
DISTRICT OF HUDSON’S HOPE 
SPECIAL COUNCIL AGENDA 
Council Chambers 
Monday, July 26, 2021 

1. Call to Order:

2. Delegations:

D1 Rob Gardner, RCMP - Update 

3. Notice of New Business:
Mayor’s List
Councillors Additions:
CAO’s Additions:

4. Adoption of Agenda by Consensus:

5. Declaration of Conflict of Interest:

6. Adoption of Minutes:
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7. Business Arising from the Minutes:

8. Public Hearing:

9. Staff Reports:

SR1 

SR2 

SR3 

SR4 

SR5 

SR6 
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Annual Report 2020 – Final 

Statement of Financial Information 2020 

North Island 911 – End User Agreement 

Referral:  BC Hydro – ALR Non-Farm Use – Lynx Creek 
Boat Launch 

Chief Administrative Officer – Monthly Report 

Corporate Officer – Monthly Report 
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Recreation Services – Monthly Report 
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10. Committee Meeting Reports:
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B1 Bylaw 923, 2021 – Road Closure, Jameison Avenue 

– Light Industrial Subdivision – Adoption

B2 Bylaw 924, 2021 – Zoning Amendment re Cannabis
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12. Correspondence:

C1 

C2 

C3 

C4 

C5 

C6 

C7 

L&M Engineering – Water Treatment Plant Update 

LifeCycle Events – Request for Donation 

SOC Prototype Letter 

ICIP – COVID-19 Resilience Infrastructure Stream 

City of North Vancouver - Revised UBCM Resolution 
re Safe Passing Distance 

City of Pitt Meadows - Truth & Reconciliation 
Commission 

BC Hydro Firewood & Wood Chips (NB?) 
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Page 168 
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Page 171 

Page 173 
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13. Reports by Mayor & Council on Meetings and Liaison Responsibilities:

14. Old Business:

15. New Business:

16. Public Inquiries:

17. In-Camera Session

18. Adjournment
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REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
District Office – Council Chambers 

6:00 P.M. 
June 14, 2021 

Present: Mayor Dave Heiberg 
Councillor Pat Markin 
Councillor Kelly Miller 
Councillor Valerie Paice 
Councillor Travous Quibell 
Councillor Leigh Summer 

Absent: Councillor Mattias Gibbs (with notice) 

Staff: Chief Administrative Officer, Mokles Rahman 
Corporate Officer, Jeanette McDougall 

1. CALL TO ORDER
The meeting was called to order at 6:00 p.m. with Mayor Heiberg presiding.

2. DELEGATIONS

D1 HYDRAULIC FRACTURING AND EARTHQUAKES – G. JOHANSSON
G. Johansson provided an overview of the hydraulic fracturing and earthquake issue
in the Region and asked for the following:  “That Council instruct staff to establish a
permanent file for information (both science-based and local anecdotal) relating to
fracking, produced water disposal, seismicity and potable water, so that there is a
permanent record available for the District to rely on as they seek to protect the
interests of the District and its residents.”

3. NOTICE OF NEW BUSINESS
Mayor’s Additions: NB1 Peace View Pullout & Peace Foothills Sign Committee 

NB4 BC Hydro – Electrical Vehicle Charging Stations – MOU 
NB5 Regular Council Meeting Cancellations – Summer 2021 

Councillor’s Additions: NB2 Cannabis Retail Store 
NB6 Tree Rebate Program 

CAO Additions: OB1 Streets and Traffic Bylaw 
OB2 Water Treatment Plant – Update 
NB3 East Entrance Sign 

4. ADOPTION OF AGENDA BY CONSENSUS

5. DECLARATION OF CONFLICT OF INTEREST

6. ADOPTION OF MINUTES

M1 REGULAR COUNCIL MINUTES

RESOLUTION NO. 059/21 
M/S Councillors Paice / Summer 
THAT the minutes of the May 25, 2021 Regular Council Meeting be adopted as 
presented. 
CARRIED 

M1
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7. BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES
Councillor Miller inquired as to whether the Library had been contacted regarding
ensuring that contact information is contained within Public Service Announcements; the
Mayor advised that he would follow-up with the Library this week.

8. PUBLIC HEARING

9. STAFF REPORTS

SR1 2020 ANNUAL REPORT – DRAFT

RESOLUTION NO. 060/21 
M/S Councillors Summer / Markin 
THAT Council approve the Draft 2020 District of Hudson’s Hope Annual Report. 
CARRIED 

SR2 EXTERIOR DISTRICT OFFICE & COUNCIL ENTRANCE - MAINTENANCE 

MAIN MOTION  
THAT Council approve the repair of the exterior siding of the District Office building, 
repair of the concrete steps, and re-pavement of the driveway approach, including 
necessary painting for the Council Chamber entrance;  and 

THAT the source of funds will be from the 2021 Operating Budget contingency 
funds. 

AMENDMENT TO THE MAIN MOTION 
M/S Councillors Miller / Paice 
THAT Council approve the repair of the exterior siding of the District 
Office building and repair of the concrete steps, including necessary 
painting for the Council Chamber entrance;  and 

THAT the source of funds will be from the 2021 Operating Budget 
contingency funds. 

MAIN MOTION AS AMENDED  
The question was called on the Main Motion and it now reads as follows; 

RESOLUTION NO. 061/21 
M/S Councillors Quibell / Miller 
THAT Council approve the repair of the exterior siding of the District Office building 
and repair the concrete steps, including necessary painting for the Council Chamber 
entrance;  and 

THAT the source of funds will be from the 2021 Operating Budget contingency 
funds. 
CARRIED 

SR3 REFERRAL: BC HYDRO - ALR NON-FARM USE – LYNX CREEK BOAT LAUNCH 

Direction to Staff: 
Staff to contact the Agricultural Land Commission to clarify their request. 
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10. COMMITTEE MEETING REPORTS

11. BYLAWS

B1 BYLAW NO. 923, 2021 – ROAD CLOSURE, JAMIESON AVENUE – LIGHT
INDUSTRIAL SUBDIVISION 

RESOLUTION NO. 062/21 
M/S Councillors Summer / Quibell 
That District of Hudson’s Hope Road Closure Bylaw No. 923, 2021, Jamieson 
Avenue at Light Industrial Subdivision be read a first time. 

That Bylaw No. 923, 2021 be read a second time. 

That Bylaw No. 923, 2021 be read a third time. 

And that Public Notice of Council’s intention to close Jamieson Avenue and remove 
the road dedication in accordance with Sections 26(3) and 40 of the Community 
Charter. 
CARRIED 

12. CORRESPONDENCE

C1 PUBLICATION ON HYDRAULIC FRACTURING AND EARTHQUAKES

Direction to Staff: 
Staff to report back to Council regarding gathering relevant information, storage 
location and / or media (physical documents, digital, or both) and tracking method. 

C2 GAS TAX AGREEMENT COMMUNITY WORKS FUND PAYMENT 
Received for Information. 

C3 UBCM 2021 - BC HYDRO MEETINGS 
Received for Information. 

C4 BILL C-21 RE AN ACT TO AMEND THE FIREARMS ACT 

RESOLUTION NO. 063/21 
M/S Councillors Quibell / Paice 
THAT Staff draft a letter to the Peace River Regional District indicating that the 
District of Hudson’s Hope does not support the language contained in the proposed 
amendment to Bill C-21. 
CARRIED 

C5 DISTRICT OF SAANICH – CLIMATE ACTION REVENUE INCENTIVE (CARIP) 
Received for Information. 

C6 LANGLEY CITY – SUPPORT FOR 988 SUICIDE AND CRISIS LINE INITIATIVE 
Received for Information. 

C7 BC RENT BANK 
Received for Information. 
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13. REPORTS BY MAYOR & COUNCIL ON MEETINGS AND LIAISON RESPONSIBILITIES

14. OLD BUSINESS

OB1 STREETS AND TRAFFIC BYLAW
The CAO asked if Council has comments on the Public and Stakeholders 
engagement strategy prepared by the Consultant for the update of the Street and 
Traffic Bylaw to submit to him by June 23, 2021.  

OB2 WATER TREATMENT PLANT 
The CAO provided an update as follows:  Well pump need to be inspected and 
cleaned to confirm no coliform in Well #2 ;  the iron count is high;  membranes of 
reverse osmosis are fouling, a change order has been approved to perform an 
autopsy of the membranes;  the Contractor has not submitted an Emergency 
Response Plan;  and the Contractor continues to be responsible for the project until 
a Certificate of Substantial Completion has been issued. 

15. NEW BUSINESS

NB1 PEACE VIEW PULLOUT & PEACE FOOTHILLS - SELECT SIGN COMMITTEE
The Mayor requested that a Select Sign Committee be formed to decide on the 
appearance and content of the Peace View Pullout and the Peace Foothills signs. 
Committee Members will be comprised as follows:    Councillors Paice, Miller & 
Summer; Staff member - J. McDougall, Corporate Officer. 

NB2 CANNABIS RETAIL STORE 

RESOLUTION NO. 064/21 
M/S Councillors Paice / Quibell 
THAT Staff prepare a zoning amendment bylaw with respect to possible 
accommodation of a cannabis retail store. 
CARRIED 

NB3 EAST ENTRANCE SIGN 
The CAO provided an update, noting that the Contractor is facing staffing shortage 
issues because of COVID. In addition, the Contractor’s engineer determined that the 
foundation will not be secure enough to withstand District’s required high wind 
speeds and strengthening or replacing the foundation will be expensive.  Staff are 
reviewing the situation with the Contractor. 

NB4 BC HYDRO – ELECTRICAL VEHICLE CHARGING STATIONS 
– MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING
The Mayor provided an overview, noting that BC Hydro submitted this item very late
with respect to the grant deadline;  also noted was that this Memorandum of
Understanding is not a binding commitment.

NB5 COUNCIL MEETING CANCELLATIONS 

RESOLUTION NO. 065/21 
M/S Councillors Paice / Quibell 
THAT the following Regular Meetings of Council be cancelled:  July 12, 2021 and 
August 9, 2021. 
CARRIED 

Special Council Meeting Page 4 of 183



NB6 TREE REBATE PROGRAM 
A general discussion ensured and it was noted that funds for this program are 
claimed quickly, resulting in several members of the Community not being able to 
claim a rebate, and that funding should be increased for next year. 

16. PUBLIC INQUIRIES

17. NOTICE OF CLOSED MEETING

18. RISE AND REPORT

19. ADJOURNMENT

Mayor Heiberg declared the meeting adjourned at 8:01 pm.

DIARY Diarized 
Conventions/Conferences/Holidays 
Commercial Water Rate Increase-annual budget 
Consideration 08/04/19 
Pool Year End Report 2020 04/01/20 

Certified Correct: 

_______________________ _______________________________ 
Dave Heiberg, Mayor  Jeanette McDougall, Corporate Officer 
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Williston Lake photo credit:  Lexi Inch

DRAFT DISTRICT OF HUDSON’S HOPE 
Annual Municipal Report 

2020 
Fiscal Year Ending December 31, 2020 
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2020 Annual Municipal Report 
Fiscal Year Ending December 31, 2020 

Phone: 250-783-9901 

Fax: 250-783-5741 

9904 Dudley Drive, Hudson’s Hope, BC V0C 1V0 

www.hudsonshope.ca 
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Message from the Mayor 

On behalf of Council, I am pleased to present the 2020 Annual Report for the District of 
Hudson’s Hope.  Our top three priorities for the year continued to be: 

- Providing quality infrastructure in a sustainable manner.
- Providing quality recreational and cultural opportunities.
- Encouraging economic growth and development.

In addition to the above, the District has played an active role in participating in a regional 
connectivity strategy to provide reliable, affordable internet service to rural and remote 
areas which is a key new initiative for the Regional District in 2020.    

It’s been an extremely busy year for council and staff, in particular dealing with the 
challenges and Provincial Health Order restrictions associated with the Covid Pandemic.  
New restart Covid protocols and procedures had to be carefully prepared for the use of our 
recreational facilities including campgrounds and boat launches, our outdoor swimming 
pool and skating rink to name a few.  Preparing and putting in place these protocols and the 
staff to implement them added an additional workload to an already busy staff.   

In addition to responding to Covid related challenges, council continued to focus on some 
key initiatives for 2020.  Some of these included: 

• Completed key capital infrastructure upgrades to our water and sewer systems.
• Developed a strategic paving plan for municipal roads.
• Continue to market 17, fully serviced, district lots with the intent of attracting new

families to our community.
• The constitution of the Site C dam continues to impact the community in many ways.
• A 2.6-kilometre berm is being constructed along the banks of the Peace River in the

heart of the community.
• Increased truck traffic has raised public concerns over air quality and flying rock debris.
• Road realignment and reservoir clearing pose safety and health concerns.
• The district water supply has now been converted from a river/spring soured to an

aquifer system. This conversion has created several water quality concerns within the
community. District staff has been working diligently with the contractor and BC Hydro
to resolve these issues.

• 2020 was a year in which the district experienced several key management position
turnovers. We have been very fortunate to have been able to hire very talented,
committed staff.  However, new staff in new position has challenges within itself.
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In closing, I would like to thank council and staff for their dedication and commitment to 
making our community a better place to work, play and live. I would also like to thank our 
community for their patience and understanding as we worked through the challenging 
issues of 2020. 

Dave Heiberg, Mayor 
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Responsibilities of the Mayor and Council 

Mayor and Council were elected on October 20, 2018 for a four-year term.  The role 
of Council is spelled out in the Community Charter (Section 115) with every member 
of Council having the following responsibilities: 

• to consider the well-being and interests of the municipality and its community;
• to contribute to the development and evaluation of the policies and programs of the

municipality respecting its services and other activities;
• to participate in council meetings, committee meetings and meetings of other bodies

to which the member is appointed;
• to carry out other duties assigned by the council under this or any other Act.

Council generally meets two times per month (second and fourth Monday).  Meetings are 
held at the Council Chambers at the District Office starting at 6:00 p.m. unless otherwise 
noted.  Meetings are open to the public.   

Left to Right:  Councillor Quibell, Councillor Markin, Councillor Gibbs, Mayor Heiberg, 
Councillor Paice, Councillor Miller, Councillor Summer. 
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Councillor 
Pat Markin 

Patricia@hudsonshope.ca 
Cel: 250.783.0769

Councillor  
Leigh Summer 

Leigh@hudsonshope.ca 
Cell: 250.783.0758

Mayor and Council 

Mayor Dave Heiberg 

Mayor Heiberg was elected as Mayor in October of 2018 following a By 
Election.  

Contact Information: 

Email mayor@hudsonshope.ca 
Work: 250.783.9901 
Cell:   250.783.0816 

Councillor  
Travous Quibell 

travous@hudsonshope.ca 
Cell: 250.783.0812

Councillor 
Valerie Paice 

valerie@hudsonshope.ca 
Cell: 250.783.0746

Councillor 
Kelly Miller 

kelly@hudsonshope.ca 
Cell: 250.783.0819

Councillor 
Mattias Gibbs 

mattias@hudsonshope.ca 
Cell: 778.204.6878 
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Message from the Chief Administrative Officer 

For those who may not know me, my name is Mokles Rahman.  I was promoted into the 
Chief Administrative Officer (CAO) position in Nobember 2020, having previously served 
as the Director of Public Works since December 2018.  The CAO is Council’s lone employee 
and acts as the liaison between the Mayor and District Council and Staff. 

2020 was definitely a year for “All Things COVID”.   However, as a result of Council’s 
support and leadership, the District was able to maintain staffing levels throughout the 
pandemic and not reduce personnel due to facility closures.  Swimming Pool Staff worked 
in Public Works as outside labourers until provincial restrictions were lifted and we were 
able to open the Pool on July 6, 2020.  We certainly appreciated everyone’s understanding 
and patience as our facilities re-opened with safety protocols in place.  

Even with all of the challenges that COVID created, the District was able to successfully 
achieve progress on Asset Management, which was one of the top priorities  of Council, 
and most of the Capital Works Projects that were approved in the 2020 budget.  The 
highest priority item that was completed was the Beattie Lift Station upgrade.  This was a 
critical repair due to the potential environmental impact (i.e., sewage being discharged 
into the Peace River) if the lift station had failed.  Other key initiatives included the 
commencement and 40% completion of the Lynx Creek Subdivision Repaving Program 
that targets Reschke, Lesage, and Chapman Roads, and the continued replacement of aging 
water valves and hydrants that was initiated in 2019.  

The other major project that got underway in 2020 is the replacement of the District’s 
drinking water source.  Working with BC Hydro, the District is replacing the existing water 
source (Peace River and Spring Water) with a drilled deep well source and upgrading the 
Water Treatment Plant.  This work is required due to construction of the Site C Dam.   

I would like to thank the women and men who have chosen to work for the District and 
make Hudson’s Hope their home.  Residents and businesses are well served by our Staff,  
who take pride in delivering and maintaining the everyday services that we enjoy including 
clean drinking water, solid waste collection, sanitation services, roads, and maintaining 
our beautiful parks and green spaces.

Mokles Rahman 
CAO 
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Description of Municipal Services 

Some of the services provided by the District of Hudson’s Hope. 

PUBLIC WORKS 
DEPARTMENT 
Water System Provide potable water distribution and treatment, and fire 

hydrants for fire protection. 

Sewer System Provide Wastewater collection and treatment system including 
operations and maintenance of sewer lift stations. 

Road Maintenance Includes snow removal, road paving and patching, crack repair, 
street sweeping, maintaining storm pipes and ditches, culverts, 
and sidewalks, curb and gutters maintenance. 

Solid Waste Collection Provide residential and commercial solid waste (garbage) 
collection and disposal through contracted service. 

Recycling Provide centralized recycling through a contracted service. 

Parks and Recreation 
Facilities  

Maintain District owned campgrounds, parks and facilities 
including Arena, Outdoor Swimming Pool, Curling Rink, and 
Community Hall. 

Cemetery Services Provide burial and cremation internments. 

Airdrome Maintain the airstrip and surrounding green space. 

PROTECTIVE SERVICES 
DEPARTMENT 
Animal Control Provision of animal control services. 
Bylaw Enforcement Bylaw enforcement is mandated to promote and enforce 

overall compliance with the District’s bylaws that pertain to 
health, safety and welfare of the community. 
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Emergency Management The District’s municipal Emergency Program guides the District’s 
actions to prepare for, respond to and recovery from major 
emergencies. The program includes the development, 
maintenance, and updating of the District’s Emergency Plan as 
well as coordinating the physical locations for Emergency 
Operations Center.  

Fire Department Hudson’s Hope Fire and Rescue Service protects life, property, 
and the environment through the provision of fire 
prevention/life safety education, emergency preparedness, 
fire suppression, first responder medical response and rescue 
services to the citizens of, and visitors to the District of 
Hudson’s Hope. 

ADMINISTRATION 
Building Inspection Provide building inspection services in compliance with 

Provincial building, plumbing and fire code regulations. 

Planning & Development 
(Zoning and Land Use) 

Administer the Official Community Plan and ensure land use 
development is in compliance with approved zoning and sub-
division development regulations. 

Tourism Operate the Visitor Centre and promote Hudson’s Hope as the 
‘Playground of the Peace’. 

Recreation Centre and 
Programs 

Provide recreational facilities and programs to residents in the 
District and surrounding areas within the Peace River Regional 
District. 

Photo by District Staff  
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District of Hudson’s Hope Asset Inventory Information 

List of recorded Assets within the District of Hudson’s Hope (2020).

Photo Credit – District Staff 
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2020 Municipal Objectives and Progress Measures 

When current Council was first elected in 2018, they set three key strategic objectives for 
the four-year election term.  These included: 

1. Providing quality infrastructure services in a sustainable manner.
2. Providing quality recreational and cultural opportunities in a sustainable manner.
3. Encouraging economic growth and development opportunities in the area.

DEPARTMENT OBJECTIVE STRATEGIES MEASURES PROGRESS

Public Works Provide quality 
infrastructure 
services in a 
sustainable manner. 

• Asset Management – 
Establish inventory and
condition of assets 

• Research asset 
management software
that is compatible with 
existing financial
software. 

• Complete repair work on
Beattie Street Lift Station. 

• Complete replacement 
work on seven remaining 
water valves and
hydrants. 

• Asset condition assessment. 
Buy a software, hire 1 
summer staff.

• Complete Beattie Lift station. 
• Complete 6 Water valves. 
• Develop plan for dead end

water mains. 
• NEW - Lynx Creek pavement 
• NEW - Keypad access for 

residential water stand+ 
upgrade BP stand 

• NEW Campground - toilet at 
Dinosaur Lake (I think this is
2021 objective)

• Manage construction of BC 
Hydro funded Wells and 
WTP.

• Asset Management data 
collection complete. 
Condition assessment in 
progress. Agreement
signed  with MuniSight 
for software hosting. 

• Completed Beattie Life
Station upgrade. 

• Completed six water 
valve replacements. 

• Develop plan for dead
end water mains. – Not 
Completed. 

• Lynx Creek pavement – 
40% completed.

• Keypad access for
residential water stand +
upgrades to BP stand –
Not completed.  Issues 
with technology
(internet). 

• Manage construction of
BC Hydro funded wells
and WTP – On-going.
Large administrative
time effort. 

Government and 
Administration 

Encourage economic 
growth and 
development in the 
area. 

• Complete remediation –
Lucas/Atkinson
deficiencies. 

• Develop Marketing Plan – 
how are we going to sell 
the lots

• Update costs and apply
for grant to assist with 
development of light 
industrial subdivision 

• Develop a process to
monitor capital spending
for Council’s

• Lucas subdivision
deficiencies are fixed. 

• Develop zoning and OCP
bylaw for Light Industrial 
subdivision. 

• NEW - Design all phases (Ph-
1 and 2) of the subdivision 
(survey, geotechnical, 
engineering design, and 
tender preparation for ph-1 
only, for construction in 
2022). 

• Determined Zoning and
OCP Bylaw Amendments 
were already completed
in 2016. 

• Engineered drawings 
were completed. 

• Subdivision application 
was submitted and is
under review by MoTI 

• Based on redevelopment
costs, project put on hold
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consideration (this is 
during the entire process, 
planning, during, post). 

• Website Update 
• Promotion – Solar panels, 

electric cars 

until further review by 
Council.  

Recreation Provide quality 
recreational and 
cultural 
opportunities in an 
affordable manner. 

• Develop a plan and
budget for repairs to the
Pool that address the
pool membrane and
hydro chlorination pump
systems.  This is a short-
term solution that will
allow the pool to operate
in 2019. 

• Develop
recommendations for 
long term facility
replacement – Recreation 
Committee.  Committee
to provide Quarterly 
Report to Council. 

• NEW - swimming pool 
structural assessment, delay
upgrade 

• Recreation committee to
report (qtr) to Council with 
recommendations. 

• NEW - Identify all 
recreational assets, prepare 
inventory. 

• Swimming pool
structural assessment –
Not completed due to
COVID and change in
operating model for the
pool. 

• Recreation committee to
report (quarterly) to
Council with 
recommendations. -  Not 
completed, committee
did not meet as 
committee is disbanded.

• Identify all recreational 
assets, prepare
inventory. – Started.
Getting price 
information for envelop
assessment for Arena, 
Curling Rink, and 
Library.

Photo by Kaitlyn Atkinson 
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2021 Anticipated Objectives and Measures 

DEPARTMENT OBJECTIVE STRATEGIES MEASURES

Public Works Provide quality 
infrastructure services in 
a sustainable manner. 

• Asset Management –
Establish inventory and
condition of assets

• Research asset
management software that
is compatible with existing
financial software.

• Complete repair work on
Beattie Street Lift Station.

• Complete replacement
work on seven remaining
water valves and hydrants.

• Develop plan to address
dead-end water lines.

• Develop plan to address
paving on Lynx Creek
pavement

• .

• Completed condition assessment on
50% of assets in inventory

• Complete assessments on 2 other Lift
Stations

• Complete 50% installation and/or
replacement of hydrant flushing
devices.

• Develop plan for dead end water
mains. – Not Completed.

• Lynx Creek pavement
• Keypad access for residential water

stand + upgrades to BP stand – Plan
in place to address issues with
technology (internet). 

• Start on Dinosaur Lake ATV
Campground.

• Completion of BC Hydro funded 
wells and Water Treatment Plant.

Government and 
Administration 

Encourage economic 
growth and development 
in the area. 

• Implement Marketing Plan
– how are we going to sell
Lucas Subdivision lots.

• Complete planning work
on Light Industrial sub-
division.

• Seek funding opportunities for Light
Industrial sub-division.

• Revisit marketing plan for Lucas
Subdivision.

Recreation Provide quality 
recreational and cultural 
opportunities in an 
affordable manner. 

• Obtain 10-year License of
Occupation extension at
Dinosaur Lake for the
development of an ATV
Campground.

• Develop recommendation
for long term facility
replacement – Recreation
Committee.  Committee to
provide Quarterly Report
to Council.

• Develop a Lifeguard
Recruitment Model.

• Two-year License of Occupation for
Dinosaur Lake obtained.  (Awaiting
Order in Council to apply for
remaining 8-year license).

• Council to set direction and priority
for next steps.

• Implementation of Lifeguard
Recruitment and Training model.
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2020 Statement of Disqualifications 

There were no Councillors disqualified during 2020. 
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2020 Statement of Tax Exemptions 

PERMISSIVE TAX EXEMPTIONS 
Reference Bylaw No. 919, 2020 

The following buildings and land received exemption from taxation for the 2020 taxation year as per 
sections 220 & 224 of the Community Charter. 

Roll# Organization Class Assessment Tax Rate Total Tax 
Exempted

8 153,800 (bldg) 14.1604      2,177.87 
8 104,700 (land) 5.1043         534.42 
6 54,400 (bldg) 14.1604         770.33 
8 91,800 (land) 5.1043         468.57 
6 45,700 (bldg) 14.1604         647.13 
8 101,000 (land) 5.1043         515.53 
6 160,000 (bldg) 14.1604      2,265.66 
6 53,500 (land) 5.1043         273.08 

01655.000 RUXTON HELEN R 6 18,500 (land) 5.1043           94.43 
6 1,177,000 (bldg) 14.1604     16,666.79 
6 95,100 (land) 5.1043         485.42 

00569.100 8 232,000 (bldg) 14.1604      3,285.21 
8 40,400 (land) 5.1043         206.21 
6 40,500 (land) 14.1604         573.50 

00571.000 6 42,400 (land) 5.1043         216.42 
04303.000 8 62,300 (bldg) 14.1604         882.19 

8 43,800 (land) 5.1043         223.57 
04304.000 6 31,100 (land) 5.1043         158.74 

1 192,000 (bldg) 14.1604      2,718.80 
1 35,800 (land) 5.1043         182.73 

40420.010 6 10,100 (bldg) 14.1604         143.02 
8 163,000 (land) 5.1043         832.00 

40420.020 6 29,600 (bldg) 14.1604         419.15 
8 18,200 (land) 5.1043           92.90 

41090.010 6 45,700 (bldg) 14.1604         647.13 
8 67,300 (land) 5.1043         343.52 

41091.010 8 143,000 (land) 5.1043         729.91 
6 17,800 (bldg) 14.1604         252.06 
8 173,000 (land) 5.1043         883.04 
6 1,885,000 (bldg) 14.1604     26,692.35 
6 76,500 (land) 5.1043         390.48 

ANGLICAN SYNOD DIOCESE OF 
CALEDONIA40420.040

17101.510 NORTHERN HEALTH AUTHORITY

00594.000 HUDSON'S HOPE (DISTRICT)
BULLHEAD MOUNTAIN CURLING CLUB

HUDSON'S HOPE BIBLE FELLOWSHIP 
BAPTIST CHURCH

04955.000 DOUBLE "H" SADDLE CLUB

HUDSON'S HOPE HISTORICAL SOCIETY

HUDSON'S HOPE BIBLE FELLOWSHIP

01035.000 DOUBLE H SADDLE CLUB

00635.000 FRIENDS OF HUDSON'S HOPE SOCIETY

04425.000 HUDSON'S HOPE HEALTH CARE & 
HOUSING SOCIETY

41027.100 HUDSON'S HOPE SKI ASSOC

HUDSON'S HOPE ROD & GUN CLUB
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2020 Financial Breakdown 
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REQUEST FOR DECISION 

RECOMMENDATION: 

1. THAT the District of Hudson’s Hope Council adopt the Statement of Financial Information (SOFI) for
the year end December 31, 2020 as presented, and

2. THAT the Mayor and the Chief Administrative Offer be authorized to sign the Statement of
Financial Information (SOFI) approval.

BACKGROUND: 

The deadline for delivery of the annual Statement of Financial Information (SOFI) report to the Province 
is June 30, 2021. In addition, the statement of financial information must be made available for public 
viewing by June 30 each year and be accessible for the following three years. 

Under the Provincial Financial Information Act, Section (3), within 6 months after the end of each fiscal 
year, the local government must prepare a statement of financial information for that fiscal year that 
includes the following: 

(a) a schedule showing;

(i) in respect of each employee earning more than a prescribed amount, the total
remuneration paid to the employee and total amount paid for the employee's expenses,
and

(ii) a consolidated total of all remuneration paid to all other employees;

(b) a schedule showing;

(i) the total amount paid to each supplier of goods or services during the fiscal year that is
greater than a prescribed amount, and

(ii) a consolidated total of all other payments made to suppliers of goods or services during
that fiscal year.

A corporation must keep in its office copies of the financial information statements prepared under this 
section and make a copy available at its head office during usual business hours for inspection by any 
person. 

RFD#:     2021MR18 Date:   June 20, 2021 

Meeting#:  CM062821 Originator:  Mokles Rahman 

RFD TITLE:    2020 - Statement of Financial Information 

SR2
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DISCUSSION:  

Elements of the 2020 SOFI report include the following components: 

• Separate disclosure of remuneration for Council members including travel expenses

• Separate disclosure of each employee who earned $75,000 or more and includes the
disclosure of travel expenses

• Consolidated total of all other employee wages

• Separate total of payments made to each vendor who received $25,000 or more

• Consolidated total of all other vendor payments

• Consolidated financial statements and notes to the financial statements

• Schedule of grants-in-aid

• Loan guarantee agreements

• Other selected information

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: None 

ATTACHMENTS:   

2020 Statement of Financial Information Package. 

Report prepared and approved by: 

_____________________________ 
Mokles Rahman, CAO 
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District of Hudson’s Hope 

Statement of Financial Information 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2020 

The following information package, prepared in accordance with the Financial 

Information Act, was approved by the District of Hudson’s Hope Council in open 

meeting assembled on June 28, 2021. 

On behalf of Council: 

___________________________    _____________________ 
Dave Heiberg      Date 
Mayor 

The information contained in this package is certified as accurate and correct. 

___________________________    _____________________ 
Mokles Rahman      Date 
Chief Administrative Officer 
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District of Hudson’s Hope 

Statement of Financial Information 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2020 

Severance Agreements 

The District of Hudson’s Hope had no severance agreements. 
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District of Hudson’s Hope 

Statement of Financial Information 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2020 

Debts Covered by Sinking Funds or Reserves 

The District issues debt instruments through the Municipal Finance Authority of British 

Columbia ("MFA"), pursuant to security issuing bylaws under authority of Section 178 of 

the Community Charter, to finance certain capital expenditures. These debt instruments 

are interest bearing at 4.60% per annum and mature in 2022. As at December 31, 2020, 

debenture debt totaled $11,335 and sinking fund assets totaled $5,340. 

Sinking fund instalments are invested by the MFA and earn income which, together with 

principal payments, are expected to be sufficient to retire the sinking fund debt at 

maturity. For sinking fund agreements, the MFA has established either a normal sinking 

fund or a capital repayment equalization fund. 

As a condition of these borrowings, the MFA requires that 1% of gross proceeds are 

deposited by the District into a debt reserve fund. The District is also required to 

execute demand notes in connection with each debenture whereby the District may be 

required to loan certain amounts to the MFA. These demand notes are contingent in 

nature and are not reflected in the accounts. The demand notes issued at December 

31, 2020 aggregated $1,385. 
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District of Hudson’s Hope 

Statement of Financial Information 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2020 

Loan Guarantee Agreement 

The District of Hudson’s Hope had no loan guarantee agreements. 
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District of Hudson’s Hope 

Statement of Financial Information 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2020 

MANAGEMENT REPORT 

The District of Hudson's Hope was incorporated in 1965 as a District Municipality under 

the Community Charter, formerly the Municipal Act, a statute of the Province of British 

Columbia. Its principal activities include the provision of local government services to 

residents of the incorporated area. These include administrative, protective, 

transportation, environmental, recreational, water, sanitary sewer, and fiscal services. 

The authority to collect property taxes and user fees and the authority to create and 

enforce bylaws is granted under provisions of the Local Government Act and the 

Community Charter. Services are provided primarily within the political boundaries of 

the District of Hudson’s Hope. 

The role of Council is to legislate bylaws; to establish goals, regulations, and policies; 

and to provide overall direction for management in achieving these goals. The role of 

management is to carry out Council's directions in accordance with established bylaws, 

regulations, and policies. Management also oversees the day-to-day operations of the 

municipality. Specifically, the role of the financial manager consists of fulfilling all 

statutory requirements relating to finance, investment of surplus funds, safeguarding of 

assets, and financial reporting. The role of the municipal auditors is to provide an annual 

independent audit of the municipality's financial statements. Portions of this information 

package are excerpts of the 2020 audited financial statements. 

___________________________    _____________________ 
Mokles Rahman      Date 
Chief Administrative Officer 
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District of Hudson's Hope
Schedule of Remuneration and Expenses

31-Dec-20

Elected Officials

Name Position Reumneration Expenses Total

Dave Heiberg Mayor 24,033.23 555.48          24,588.71 
Mattias Gibbs Councillor 10,652.08 10,652.08 
Patricia Markin Councillor 10,802.08 148.36          10,950.44 
Kelly Miller Councillor 10,952.08 10,952.08 
Travous Quibell Councillor 10,652.08 10,652.08 
Valerie Paice Councillor 10,652.08 10,652.08 
Leigh Summer Councillor 10,652.08 10,652.08 

88,395.71 703.84          89,099.55 

Other Employees

Employees Over $75,000

Mokles Rahman 134,786.76 1,049.58       135,836.34 
Chris Cvik 127,388.71 75.00            127,463.71 
Darren Anderson            94,355.10             5,916.87       100,271.97 
Keith Reschke 89,644.34             521.60          90,165.94         
Robert Norton 88,745.15             488.50          89,233.65         
John Vandenberg 88,511.83             5,000.00       93,511.83         
Marcel Budalich 81,773.87             200.00          81,973.87         
Greg Schafer 78,586.97             505.61          79,092.58         
Kimberly Trask 76,529.74             1,587.81       78,117.55         

Consolidated Total of Other 1,173,091.78 9,980.11       1,183,071.89 
   Employees and expenses 
   Over $75,000

2,033,414.25 25,325.08     2,058,739.33 

Reconciliation

Total Remuneration - Elected Officials 88,395.71         
Total Remuneration - Employees 2,033,414.25 
Total Severance - Employees - 
District Portion of EI and CPP 104,698.42 

Subtotal 2,226,508.38 

Reconciling Items
   Superannuation and WCB Payments Included in Expense Accounts Below 171,011.90 
   Benefit Payments Included in Below 86,838.19         
   Unreconciled Difference

2,484,358.47 

Total Per Statement of Revenue
   and Expenditure

Note 18 Wages and Benefits 2,376,648.00 
Wages Not Included in Note 18: 107,710.47       

2,484,358.47 

- 
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District of Hudson's Hope
Schedule Showing Payments Made for Provision of Goods and Services
31-Dec-20

Suppliers With Aggregate Payments Exceeding $25,000

Supplier Name Amount

A & H DRILLING LTD. 47,149.84           
BC HYDRO -BILL PAYMENT ONLINE 147,963.80         
BROGAN SAFETY SUPPLY LTD. 30,579.32           
BCGEU 28,183.48           
B.C. ASSESSMENT 41,095.08           
CANADIAN WESTERN MECHANICAL LTD. 201,672.31         
COLIBRIA VISA - ONLINE PAYMENT 79,912.00           
CUTTING EDGE PROJECTS 214,104.54         
DGS ASTRO PAVING LTD 419,372.30         
FORT ST. JOHN CO-OPERATIVE ASSOC. 57,993.03           
FORTISBC -  NATURAL GAS 59,801.07           
ICBC                                    55,993.00           
INDUSTRA CONSTRUCTION CORP 2,472,482.78 
I.T. PARTNERS 59,481.62           
KPMG LLP, T4348 45,218.25           
L & M ENGINEERING LTD. 322,251.85         
MASON, RICHARD 41,073.01           
MINISTER OF FINANCE SCHOOL TAXES 2,771,542.43 
MUNISIGHT LTD. 90,722.24           
MURRAY CHEVROLET 46,248.39           
PEACE RIVER REGIONAL DISTRICT 238,246.05         
PEACE RIVER REGIONAL HOSPITAL DISTRICT 195,731.00         
PACIFIC BLUE CROSS 86,838.19           
RECEIVER GENERAL FOR CANADA - PAYROLL 448,687.22         
RECEIVER GENERAL FOR CANADA - PAYROLL 83,063.49           
TELUS COMMUNICATIONS (B.C.) INC. 39,233.62           
TELUS MOBILITY 33,080.10           
URBAN SYSTEMS 292,378.88         
W6 RANCH LTD. 45,230.85           
WILLIS CANADA INC. 76,621.00           
WASP MANUFACTURING LTD. 27,185.67           
WESTERN WATER ASSOCIATES LTD. 54,761.19           
YOUNG, ANDERSON BARRISTERS & SOLICITORS 53,199.74           

Payments Made (Vendors Over $25,000) 8,907,097.34 

Consolidated Total Paid to Suppliers Who Received
Aggregate Payments of $25,000 or Less 845,212.66 

Consolidated Total of Grants and Contributions 
Exceeding $25,000 209,022.00 

Consolidated Total of Grants and Contributions
Under $25,000 20,591.40 

1,074,826.06 

Reconciliation 0.00
Total of All Payments Above 9,981,923.40 

Reconciling Items
DEDUCT TRANSFERS TO OTHER GOVERNMENTS NETTED AGAINST
TAXATION REVENUE (F/S NOTE 11) (3,315,860.00)     
ADD RENUMERATION PAID TO EMPLOYEES AND GOVERNMENT
APPOINTED OFFICIALS 2,121,809.96 
DEDUCT AMTS PAID TO GOV OFFICIALS INCLUDED IN PYMTS TOTAL (88,395.71)          
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ADD HOMEOWNER GRANT DEDUCTIONS INCLUDED IN TRANSFERS 224,291.89         
DEDUCTIONS (PER T4/T4A SUMMARY) (592,146.56)        
ADD WCB & EHT PAYMENTS EFT 69,267.06           
DEDUCT RECOVERABLE GST INCLUDED IN PAYMENTS ABOVE (167,791.89)        
ADD BANK CHARGED AUTOMATICALLY DEBITED 45,484.37 
ADD LEASE PAYMENTS 13,956.99 
DEDUCT PAYMENTS ON 12 MILE EXTENSION (795.18) 
DEDUCT LOAN PRINCIPAL (1,764.99)            
CHANGE IN INVENTORIES 11,203.00 
ADD PREPAID EXPENSES 2019 17,738.00 
DEDUCT PREPAID EXPENSES 2020 (19,217.00)          
DEDUCT 2019 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE (391,163.12)        
ADD 2020 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 504,506.00 
UNRECONCILED DIFFERENCE 9,953.64             

(1,558,923.54)     
Adjusted Total Payments 8,422,999.86 

TOTAL EXPENDITURES PER CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
FINANCIAL ACITIVITIES 5,915,772.00 
ADD EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT (employee expenses) 25,325.08 
LESS AMORITIZATION EXPENSE (971,726.22)        
ADD CAPITAL EXPENDITURES 4,223,035.00 
WRITE-DOWN OF LAND HELD FOR SALE (768,528.00)        
DEDUCT LOSS ON DISPOSAL (878.00) 

8,422,999.86 
- 
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District of Hudson's Hope
Schedule of Grants-in-aid
31-Dec-20

HUDSON'S HOPE PUBLIC LIBRARY ASSOCIATION 122,314.00    
HUDSON'S HOPE HISTORICAL SOCIETY        86,708.00      
HUDSON'S HOPE HEALTH CARE & HOUSING SOC. 10,000.00      
DOUBLE  H  SADDLE CLUB 5,600.00        
FRIENDS OF HUDSON'S HOPE 3,397.00        
DOUBLE  H  SADDLE CLUB 402.40           
THE PEARKES CENTRE 960.00           
HUDSON'S HOPE GRAD SOCIETY 232.00           

Total 229,613.40    
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Consolidated Financial Statements of 

And Independent Auditors' Report thereon

Year ended December 31, 2020 
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MANAGEMENTS RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the District of Hudson's Hope (the "District") 

are the responsibility of the District's management and have been prepared in compliance with 

legislation, and in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for local governments 

established by the Public Sector Accounting Board of Chartered Professional Accountants of 

Canada. A summary of the significant accounting policies are described in Note 1 to the 

consolidated financial statements. The preparation of consolidated financial statements necessarily 

involves the use of estimates based on management's judgment, particularly when transactions 

affecting the current accounting period cannot be finalized with certainty until future periods. 

The District's management maintains a system of internal controls designed to provide reasonable 

assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions are properly authorized and recorded in 

compliance with legislative and regulatory requirements, and reliable financial information is 

available on a timely basis for preparation of the consolidated financial statements. These systems 

are monitored and evaluated by management. 

Mayor and Council meet with management and the external auditors to review the consolidated 

financial statements and discuss any significant financial reporting or internal control matters prior to 

their approval of the consolidated financial statements. 

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by KPMG LLP, independent external 

auditors appointed by the District. The accompanying Independent Auditors' Report outlines their 

responsibilities, the scope of their examination and their opinion on the District's consolidated 

financial statements. 

Mr�an 
Chief Administrative Officer Deputy Treasurer 

11�·eace 
;,a counfry
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KPMG LLP

177 Victoria Street, Suite 400

Prince George BC  V2L 5R8

Canada

Tel (250) 563-7151

Fax (250) 563-5693

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Mayor and Council of District of Hudson's Hope

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of District of Hudson's Hope, (the
"District") which comprise:

 the consolidated statement of financial position  as at December 31, 2020

 the consolidated statement of operations and accumulated surplus for the year

then ended

 the consolidated statement of change in net financial assets for the year then

ended

 the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended

 and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of

significant accounting policies

(Hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements'').

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the consolidated financial position of the District as at December 31,
2020 and its consolidated results of operations, its consolidated changes in net financial
assets and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
''Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements'' section of our
auditors' report. 

We are independent of the District in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and those Charged with Governance
for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error. 

© 2020 KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved.
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Page 2

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
District's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management
either intends to liquidate the District or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the District's financial
reporting process.

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditors' report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards,
we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit.

We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to

those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide

a basis for our opinion.

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District's internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness

of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern

basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material

uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on

the District's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors' report to the

related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are

inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit

evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors' report. However, future events or

conditions may cause the District to cease to continue as a going concern.
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 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial

statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements

represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation

 Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,

including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during

our audit.

Chartered Professional Accountants

Prince George, Canada

April 12, 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus

Year ended December 31, 2020, with comparative information for 2019

2020
Budget

(note 16)
2020

Actual
2019

Actual

Revenue (note 18):
Net taxation revenue (note 11) $ 2,423,180 $ 2,296,169 $ 2,107,549
Grants in lieu of taxes 1,769,958 1,773,879 1,727,048
Sales of services and user charges (note 12) 823,238 550,309 726,890
Other revenue from own sources 122,761 175,773 153,080
Government transfers: (note 13)

Provincial 1,502,900 4,856,463 2,066,503
Federal 97,849 97,869 195,835

Total revenue 6,739,886 9,750,462 6,976,905

Expenses (note 18):
General government services and

administration (note 14) 1,691,072 2,813,625 2,445,402
Protective services 334,700 270,759 259,475
Public works services 1,634,297 1,592,455 1,470,134
Environmental and public health services 66,400 51,591 54,524
Environmental development services 40,500 1,203 11,225
Recreation and cultural services 942,185 641,687 838,731
Planning, development and bylaw services 68,065 59,662 56,849
Water utility and sanitary sewer systems 445,361 484,790 511,354

Total expenses 5,222,580 5,915,772 5,647,694

Annual surplus 1,517,306 3,834,690 1,329,211

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 28,997,409 28,997,409 27,668,198

Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 30,514,715 $ 32,832,099 $ 28,997,409

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Change In Net Financial Assets

Year ended December 31, 2020, with comparative information for 2019

2020
Budget 2020 2019

Annual surplus $ 1,517,306 $ 3,834,690 $ 1,329,211

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (2,200,515) (4,142,228) (1,251,066)
Acquisition of land held for resale - (80,807) (72,125)
Amortization of tangible capital assets - 971,727 981,559
Write-down of land held for sale - 768,528 -
Loss on sale of tangible capital assets - 878 30,458
Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets - 12,000 84,734

(683,209) 1,364,788 1,102,771

Use of inventories - 11,203 3,296
Acquisition of inventories - - (181,027)
Use of prepaid expenses - 17,738 78,843
Acquisition of prepaid expenses - (19,217) (17,738)

Change in net financial assets (683,209) 1,374,512 986,145

Net financial assets, beginning of year 6,012,722 6,012,722 5,026,577

Net financial assets, end of year $ 5,329,513 $ 7,387,234 $ 6,012,722

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31, 2020, with comparative information for 2019

2020 2019
2020

Actual
2019

Actual

Cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities:
Annual surplus $ 3,834,690 $ 1,329,211
Items not involving cash:

Amortization of tangible capital assets 971,727 981,559
Loss on sale of capital assets 878 30,458
Write down of land held for sale 768,528 -

Changes in non-cash operating working capital:
Accounts receivable (714,624) (401,918)
Deposit - Municipal Finance Authority (22) -
Inventories 11,203 (177,731)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 113,341 89,221
Reserve - Municipal Finance Authority 22 -
Prepaid expenses (1,479) 61,105
Deferred revenue 30,963 (20,000)

5,015,229 1,891,905

Capital activities:
Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets 12,000 84,734
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (4,142,228) (1,251,066)
Acquisition of land held for resale (80,807) (72,125)

(4,211,035) (1,238,457)

Financing activities:
Repayment of debt (2,826) (2,717)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 801,368 650,731

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 6,067,135 5,416,404

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 6,868,503 $ 6,067,135

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Year ended December 31, 2020

Nature of operations:

The District of Hudson's Hope (the "District") was incorporated in 1965 as a District Municipality

under the Community Charter, formerly the Municipal Act, a statute of the Province of British

Columbia.  Its principal activities include the provision of local government services to residents of

the incorporated area.  These include administrative, protective, transportation, environmental,

recreational, water, sanitary sewer and fiscal services.

On March 11, 2020, the COVID-19 outbreak was declared a pandemic by the World Health

Organization. This has resulted in governments worldwide, including the Canadian Federal and

Provincial governments, enacting emergency measures to combat the spread of the virus. The

current economic climate may have a direct impact on the District's operating results and financial

position in the future. The situation is dynamic and the ultimate duration and magnitude of the impact

on the economy and the financial effect on the District's operations to date is not known at this time.

There have been no significant adverse impacts on the District's business to date. 

1. Significant accounting policies:

The consolidated financial statements of the District are prepared in accordance with Canadian

generally accepted accounting principles for governments as recommended by the Public

Sector Accounting Board (“PSAB”) of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada.

Significant accounting policies adopted by the District are as follows:

(a) Basis of consolidation:

(i) Consolidated entities:

The consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues and

expenses of the reporting entity.  The reporting entity is comprised of all

organizations, committees and local boards accountable for the administration of their

financial affairs and resources to the District and which are owned or controlled by the

District.

(ii) Accounting for Region and School Board Transactions:

The taxation, other revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities with respect to the

operation of the Region and the School Board are not reflected in these consolidated

financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2020

1. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(b) Basis of consolidation (continued):

(iii) Trust funds:

Trust funds and their related operations administered by the District are not included

in these consolidated financial statements.

(b) Basis of accounting:

The District follows the accrual method of accounting for revenues and expenses.

Revenues are normally recognized in the year in which they are earned and measurable.

Expenses are recognized as they are incurred and measurable as a result of receipt of

goods or services and/or the creation of a legal obligation to pay.

(c) Revenue recognition:

The District recognizes revenue in accordance with the provisions of the Community
Charter.  The District is required to act as the agent for the collection of certain taxes and
fees imposed by other authorities.  Collections for other authorities are excluded from the
District's taxation revenues.

Revenue unearned in the current period is reported on the consolidated statement of
financial position as deferred revenue.

(d) Investment income:

Investment income is reported as revenue in the period earned.  When required by the

funding agency or related Act, investment income earned on deferred revenue is added to

the investment and forms part of the deferred revenue balance.

(e) Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash equivalents include short-term highly liquid investments with a term to maturity of 90

days or less at acquisition.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2020

1. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(f) Non-financial assets:

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use

in the provision of services.  They have useful lives extending beyond the current year and

are not intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations.

(i) Tangible capital assets:

Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost which includes amounts that are

directly attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the

asset.  The cost, less residual value, of the tangible capital assets, excluding land,

are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Asset Useful life - years

Building and site improvements 10 - 50
Machinery and equipment 5 - 25
Engineering structures 15 - 40
Water and sanitary sewer infrastructure 15 - 40

Annual amortization is charged in the year that an asset becomes available for

productive use and in the year of disposal.

Assets under construction are not amortized until the asset is available for

productive use.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2020

1. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(f) Non-financial assets (continued):

(ii) Contributions to tangible capital assets:

Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair value at
the date of receipt and also are recorded as revenue.

(iii) Interest capitalization:

The District does not capitalize interest costs associated with the acquisition or
construction of a tangible capital asset.

(iv) Land held for resale:

Land held for sale is recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value.  Cost
includes amounts for improvements to prepare the land for sale or servicing.

(v) Inventories:

Inventories consist of crushed gravel and sand. Inventories are valued at the lower
of cost and replacement cost with cost determined using a moving average basis.

(g) Use of estimates:

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the

reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the period.  Items subject to such

estimates and assumptions include the carrying amount of tangible capital assets.  Actual

results could differ from these estimates.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2020

1. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(h) Contaminated sites:

Contaminated sites are defined as the result of contamination being introduced in air, soil,

water or sediment of a chemical, organic, or radioactive material or live organism that

exceeds an environmental standard.

A liability for remediation of contaminated sites is recognized, net of any expected

recoveries, when all of the following criteria are met:

i) an environmental standard exists;

ii) contamination exceeds the environmental standard;

iii) the organization is directly responsible or accepts responsibility for the

liability;

iv) future economic benefits will be given up, and

v) a reasonable estimate of the liability can be made.

(i) Government transfers:

Government transfers, which include legislative grants, are recognized as revenue in the

financial statements when the transfer is authorized and any eligibility criteria are met,

except to the extent that transfer stipulations give rise to an obligation that meets the

definition of a liability. Transfer revenue is recognized in the statements of operations as

stipulations for liabilities are settled.

2. Cash and cash equivalents:

2020 2019

Cash $ 4,428,092 $ 3,647,629
Short-term investments 2,440,411 2,419,506

$ 6,868,503 $ 6,067,135
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2020

3. Accounts receivable:

2020 2019

Grants $ 1,376,888 $ 644,214
Sales tax 111,452 63,230
Other 35,930 58,396
Taxes 44,085 87,891

$ 1,568,355 $ 853,731

4. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:

2020 2019

Accounts payable - trade $ 402,136 $ 214,910
Wages and related costs payable 85,204 176,253
Government remittances 13,921 -
Cemetery 3,245 -

$ 504,506 $ 391,163

5. Deferred revenue:

2020 2019

Partnering relationship agreement $ 539,123 $ 508,160
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2020

6. Debt, net of sinking funds:

The District issues debt instruments through the Municipal Finance Authority of British

Columbia ("MFA"), pursuant to security issuing bylaws under authority of Section 178 of the

Community Charter, to finance certain capital expenditures.

Purpose
Interest

rate
Year of
maturity

Debenture
debt

Sinking
Fund

Assets Net debt 2020 Net debt 2019

General fund:

711
Local

improvements 4.60% 2022 $ 11,335 $ 5,340 $ 5,995 $ 8,821

Debt is reported net of sinking fund balances on the consolidated statement of financial

position.

(a) Aggregate repayments of principal over the next two years are estimated as follows:

Total 

2021 $ 1,765
2022 1,765

3,530

Estimated sinking fund income 2,465

$ 5,995
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2020

6. Debt, net of sinking funds (continued):

(b) The District has the following un-issued loan authorization at December 31, 2020.

Bylaw Number Date Purpose 2020

711 January 15, 2008
12 mile road

extension $ 45,742

(c) Sinking fund instalments are invested by the MFA and earn income which, together with

principal payments, are expected to be sufficient to retire the sinking fund debt at

maturity.  For sinking fund agreements, the MFA has established either a normal sinking

fund or a capital repayment equalization fund.

(d) The District has established a $200,000 operating line of credit, which bears interest at

prime and is secured by term deposits and accounts receivable.  As at December 31,

2020 borrowing against the operating line of credit was nil (2019 - nil).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2020

8. Land held for resale:

Land held for resale consists of seventeen lots in relation to the Lucas subdivision.  A write

down of $768,528 (2019 - $nil)  was recognized in general government services and

administration on the consolidated statement of operations for the Lucas subdivision.

9. Accumulated surplus:

2020 2019

Surplus:

Invested in tangible capital assets $ 24,601,520 $ 21,363,090
General fund 5,539,447 4,479,208
Water utility fund 239,059 475,629
Sanitary sewer fund 48,893 326,790

30,428,919 26,644,717

Reserves set aside by Council:

Water utility fund:

Unexpended funds:

MFA debt reserve 147,610 146,325
MFA sinking fund surplus 76,281 75,612

223,901 221,937

Reserve funds set aside for specific purposes by Council:

Public works, infrastructure and equipment 1,529,078 1,626,120
General capital and office equipment 95,829 90,032
Water capital, infrastructure and equipment 71,384 72,740
Sewer capital, infrastructure and equipment 44,445 61,897
Tax sale properties 347,278 219,238
Community hall 91,265 60,728

2,179,279 2,130,755

$ 32,832,099 $ 28,997,409
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2020

10. Commitments and contingencies:

(a) The District is responsible, as a member of the Peace River Regional District, for its

portion of any operating deficits or capital debt related to functions in which it

participates.  Management does not consider payment under this contingency to be

likely and therefore no amounts have been accrued.

(b) The District issues debt instruments through the MFA. As a condition of these

borrowings, the MFA requires that 1% of gross proceeds are deposited by the District

into a debt reserve fund. The District is also required to execute demand notes in

connection with each debenture whereby the District may be required to loan certain

amounts to the MFA. These demand notes are contingent in nature and are not

reflected in the accounts. The demand notes issued at December 31, 2020 aggregated

$1,385 (2019 - $1,385).

(c) The District and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan ("the Plan"), a

jointly-trusteed pension plan. The Board of Trustees, representing Plan members and

employers, is responsible for administering the Plan, including investment of assets and

administration of benefits. The Plan is a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan.

Basic pension benefits are based on a formula. As at December 31, 2020, the Plan has

about 213,000 active members and approximately 106,000 retired members. Active

members include approximately 41,000 contributors from the local governments.

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of

the Plan and adequacy of plan funding. The actuary determines an appropriate

combined employer and member contribution rate to fund the Plan. The actuary’s

calculated contribution rate is based on the entry-age normal cost method, which

produces the long-term rate of member and employer contributions sufficient to provide

benefits for average future entrants to the Plan. This rate may be then adjusted for the

amortization of any actuarial funding surplus and will be adjusted for the amortization of

any unfunded actuarial liability.

The most recent valuation for the Plan as at December 31, 2018, indicated a $2,866

million funding surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2020

10. Commitments and contingencies (continued):

(c) The District paid $143,208 (2019 - $144,595) for employer contributions to the Plan in

fiscal 2020.

The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2021, with results available in 2022.

Employers participating in the Plan record their pension expense as the amount of

employer contributions made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan

accounting).  This is because the Plan records accrued liabilities and accrued assets

for the Plan in aggregate, resulting in no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the

obligation, assets and cost to individual employers participating in the Plan.

(d) The District is obligated to collect and transmit property taxes levied on Hudson's Hope

taxpayers in respect of the following bodies:

Ministry of Education, Province of British Columbia

Peace River Regional District

British Columbia Assessment Authority

Municipal Finance Authority

Peace River Regional Hospital District

Royal Canadian Mounted Police

(e) The District is a participant in the Municipal Insurance Association of British Columbia.

Should the Association pay out claim in excess of premiums received, it is possible that

the District, along with other participants, would be required to contribute toward the

deficit.  Management does not consider external payment under this contingency to be

likely and therefore no amounts have been accrued.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2020

11. Net taxation revenue:

The District is required to collect taxes on behalf of and transfer these amounts to the

government agencies noted below:

2020 2019

Taxes collected:

General purposes $ 2,290,243 $ 2,109,443
Collections for other governments 3,321,786 3,178,870

5,612,029 5,288,313

Less transfers to other governments:

Province of British Columbia - school taxes 2,771,542 2,635,973
Peace River Regional District 195,510 179,654
Peace River Regional Hospital District 195,731 226,720
Royal Canadian Mounted Police 113,600 102,580
B.C. Assessment Authority 39,395 35,759
Municipal Finance Authority 82 78

3,315,860 3,180,764

$ 2,296,169 $ 2,107,549

12. Sales of services and user charges:

The District recognizes sales of services and user charges as revenues in the period in which

the services are provided.  The sales of services and user charges reported on the

Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus are as follows:

2020 2019

Water utility $ 167,947 $ 211,194
Sewer system 80,300 82,240
General government services 116,333 174,275
Planning, development and bylaw services 10,221 7,362
Environmental and public health services 87,181 94,108
Recreation and cultural services 88,327 157,711

$ 550,309 $ 726,890
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2020

13. Government transfers:

2020 2019

Revenue:

Provincial grants:

Canada Student Grant $ - $ 4,144
Climate Action Revenue Incentive program grant 10,462 10,462
COVID-19 Restart Grant (schedule 1) 499,000 -
BC Hydro 3,308,971 805,318
Northern Development Initiative Trust 15,548 15,599
Peace River agreement- Fair Share 700,284 732,617
Small Community grant 311,198 303,236
Tourism BC grant 11,000 11,007
Union of BC Municipalities - 184,120

4,856,463 2,066,503
Federal grants:

Gas tax 97,869 195,835

$ 4,954,332 $ 2,262,338

14. General government services and administration:

2020 2019

Legislative $ 88,125 $ 117,339
Grants in aid 20,591 37,663
General government services 2,635,363 2,238,503
ICBC 69,546 52,397

$ 2,813,625 $ 2,445,902
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2020

15. Trust fund:

The District maintains a cemetery perpetual care fund in accordance with the Cemeteries and

Funeral Services Act.  As at December 31, 2020, the trust fund balance for both the liability and

its corresponding term deposit is $18,088 (2019 - $17,837).

16. Budget data:

The budget data presented in these consolidated financial statements is based upon the 2020

operating and capital budgets approved by Council on April 27, 2020. Amortization was not

contemplated on development of the budget and, as such, has not been included.  The table

below reconciles the approved budget to the budget figures reported in these consolidated

financial statements.

Budget amount

Revenues:

Operating budget $ 6,739,886
Capital operations budget 2,200,515

Less:

Transfers from other funds (2,200,515)

6,739,886

Expenses:

Operating budget 6,739,886
Capital operations budget 2,200,515

Less:

Transfers from other funds (1,517,307)
Capital expenditures (2,200,515)

5,222,580

$ 1,517,306
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2020

17. Significant taxpayers:

The District derives a significant portion of its taxation revenue from the utility sector. Any

changes in this sector could have an impact on the ongoing operations of the District.

18. Segmented information:

Segmented information has been identified based upon lines of services provided by the

District. District services are provided by the departments and their activities are reported by

functional area in the body of the consolidated financial statements.  Certain lines of services

that have been separately disclosed in the segmented information, are as follows:

(i) General Government Services and Administration:

The general government services and administration provides the functions of corporate

administration and legislative services and any other functions categorized as non-

departmental in the District.

(ii) Protective Services:

Protective services is comprised of the fire department and other community protection

costs incurred by the District.

(iii) Public Works Services:

The public works department is responsible for the delivery of municipal public works

services related to the planning, development and maintenance of roadway systems, the

maintenance of parks and open space, and street lighting in the District.

(iv) Environmental and Public Health Services:

Environmental and public health services is responsible for environmental programs such

as waste management, which encompasses garbage collection and recycling.  This

segment is also responsible for rental of the doctor's office in the District.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2020

18. Segmented information: (continued):

(v) Environment Development Services:

Environmental development services is responsible for community and economic

development, in regard to community development projects.

(vi) Planning, Development and Bylaw Services:

Planning, development and bylaw services is responsible for community planning (OCP),

zoning, bylaw enforcement, animal control and building inspection in the District.

(vii) Recreation and Culture Services:

Recreational and cultural services provides various recreational and cultural opportunities

to the residents and visitors of the District, including the library, pool, arena, community

hall, tourism information centre and museum.

(viii) Water Utility and Sanitary Sewer Systems:

The water utility installs and maintains water mains, pump stations and the water treatment

plant.  The treatment and distribution of water in the District is included in this segment.

The sanitary sewer utility installs and maintains sewer mains, lift stations and the sewage

treatment facility.  The collection and treatment of sewage in the District is included in this

segment.

Certain allocation methodologies are employed in the preparation of segmented financial

information.  Taxation and payments-in-lieu of taxes are allocated to the segments based on the

segment that generated the revenue. Development charges earned and developer contributions

received were allocated to the segment for which the charge was collected.

The accounting policies used in these segments are consistent with those followed in the

preparation of  the consolidated financial statements as disclosed in Note 1.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2020

19. Comparative information

Certain 2019 comparative information has been reclassified. The changes had no impact on
prior year annual surplus.
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Schedule 1 - COVID-19 Safe Restart Grant 

Year ended December 31, 2020
(Unaudited)

In November 2020, the District of Hudson's Hope was the recipient of a $499,000 grant under the

COVID-19 Safe Restart for Local Governments program from the Province of BC.  Due to the

conditions of use this grant funding allows local governments to use the funding where the greatest

need arises, the entire $499,000 amount received was considered revenue in 2020 and included

grant revenue on the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Surplus. The District

allocated $70,329 within 2020 to cover operational costs and loss of revenue in relation to the

operation of the District's Pool and Arena in addition to overall pandemic responses incurred since

the beginning of the pandemic in the spring of 2020.

2020

Grant funding received - November 2020 $ 499,000

Less amount utilized in 2020

Masks & hand sanitizer (6,624)
Arena operations (36,893)
Swimming operations (26,812)

Total funding available for allocation (70,329)

Remaining COVID-19 Safe Restart Grant for allocation in 2021 $ 428,671
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REQUEST FOR DECISION 

RECOMMENDATION / RESOLUTION: 

THAT Council Authorize the Director of Protective Services and the CAO to sign and submit the End 
User Agreement and, 

THAT Council supports the Continued use, privacy, and confidentiality commitments of Visitnet, CAD 
and North Island 911. 

BACKGROUND: 

The North Island 911 user agreement is signed by all departments that use the services of North Island 
911 Corporation. This agreement is being signed as there has been updates to the Visinet, CAD and 
Mapping Systems with the addition of a new Confidentiality section. This agreement is to ensure all 
departments and users abide by the proper confidentiality required, as the CAD holds sensitive and 
personal information. 

DISCUSSION: 

The Director of Protective Services ensures the safety of all CADs within the department.  Signing the 
agreement shows that the District of Hudson’s Hope and Hudson’s Hope Fire Rescue are participating 
in and understanding of the privacy and confidentiality of the CAD System. It also ensures that no 
member will use the information for any other reason then that of an operational need. 

Prepared by: 

_________________________________ 
Brad Milton, Director of Protective Services 

Reviewed by: 

_________________________________ 
Mokles Rahman, CAO 

RFD#:    BM-2021-03 Date:  June 18, 2021 
Meeting#:  CM062821 Originator: Brad Milton, Director of 

Protective Services 
RFD TITLE:    Council Resolution to Sign North Island – 911 End User agreement 

SR3
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THIS AGREEMENT made effective this ______ day of  ____________, 2021. 

BETWEEN:  

NORTH ISLAND 9-1-1 CORPORATION 
770 Harmston Avenue 
Courtenay, BC V9N 0G8 

(hereinafter called the “Corporation”) 

AND: 

Fire Department Name 
Street Address 
City, BC 
Postal Code 

(hereinafter called the “User”) 

WHEREAS: 

The Corporation maintains and provides a Computer Aided Dispatch Software System (the 
“System”) for fire dispatch operations for Fire Departments; and  

The User wishes to utilize the System with some or all of the Optional Value Services (as 
defined herein) within one or more of its individual Fire Departments (as defined herein) for 
the Services specified in this Agreement; 

THEREFORE, IN CONSIDERATION of the payment of One ($1.00) Dollar paid by the 
User to the Corporation (the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged and 
agreed by the Corporation) and other good and valuable consideration, the Corporation and 
the User do hereby agree as follows: 

1. INTERPRETATION

In this Agreement:

“Boundaries” means the boundaries of the User identified in Schedule “D” to this
Agreement;

“Excusing Event” means any event or circumstances, beyond the control of the
Corporation, acting prudently and reasonably, that has or may reasonably be expected
to have a material adverse affect on the provision of the Services including, but not
limited to the following:
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(a) an act of God, epidemic, landslide, lighting, earthquake, fire, explosion , storm,
flood or similar occurrence, any act of any public enemy, war, blockage,
insurrection, riot, general arrest or restraint of government and people, civil
disturbance or similar occurrence, or a strike, lockout or similar industrial or
labour action, or sabotage;

(b) the order or judgment of a court or any government authority;

(c) any changes in applicable laws or regulatory requirements;

(d) the suspension, termination, interruption, denial or failure of renewal of  any
permit, license, consent, authorization or approval essential to the maintenance or
operation of the System;

(e) any failure, negligence, or actions, or inactions, on the part of any third party
provider, including, without limitation, CentralSquare Enterprise Software
Systems (“CentralSquare`”), to provide or to continue to provide, support for the
System; or

(f) any bugs, flaws, errors, omissions or other problems within the System as created
by any such third party, including, without limitation, CentralSquare, that in any
way impact upon or result in the discontinuance, interruption or inability of the
System to operate as reasonably anticipated.

“Fire Department” means a single fire department organization in operation in any of 
the areas described in Schedule “D” of this Agreement;   

“Hazard & Special Instruction Property Services” means the optional addition to 
the System that provides the User’s personnel with specific response information to 
every property within the boundaries, described in Schedule “F” of this Agreement; 

“Incident Notification” means the optional addition to the System that provides the 
User’s field personnel with the opportunity to receive incident information via email to 
three email addresses per Fire Department, described in Schedule “G” of this 
Agreement; 

“Optional Value Services” means the CentralSquare (formerly known as “TriTech”) 
Mobile, Hazard & Special Instruction Property Services and Incident Notification 
programs defined in this section 1 and described in Schedules “E”, “F” and “G” of this 
Agreement; 

“Services” means the services described in Schedule “A” to this Agreement; 

“System” means the Emergency Answering System for fire, ambulance and police 
services described in Schedule “I” to this Agreement;   

“CentralSquare’s (formerly known as “TriTech”) Software Systems Operation 
Policy” means the operational policy as prescribed from time to time by the 
Corporation to be abided by and used by any and all Users and Fire Departments, from 
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time to time when utilizing the System. 

“CAD Browser Enterprise” (Formerly known as Visinet Browser) means a mandatory 
feature that provides fire chiefs with remote access to real-time and historical incident 
information; and  

“Mobile Enterprise” (formerly known as Visinet Mobile) means the optional addition 
to the System described in Schedules “C” and “E” of this Agreement. 

2. SERVICES

The Corporation shall provide the Services to the User for use solely within the
Boundaries identified in Schedule “D”.  The User shall use the Services provided by the
Corporation in strict accordance with the terms set out within this Agreement and in
accordance with any rules, guidelines or protocols established by the Corporation from
time to time.

3. PERSONNEL, EQUIPMENT AND FACILITIES

The Corporation shall provide and maintain or undertake to provide and maintain all
the personnel, equipment and facilities reasonably necessary to provide the Services
subject to any maintenance or servicing fees, or as may be set out by the Corporation
from time to time. The Corporation shall not provide the hardware or installation of all
hardware necessary to operate the Services except where specifically agreed to by the
Corporation under this Agreement.

4. TERM

This Agreement comes into effect on the effective date of this Agreement and has a
term of five (5) years (the “Term”) unless terminated earlier under the provisions of this
Agreement.  The User may, by giving written notice of not less than six months before
the end of the Term of this Agreement, renew this Agreement for a further five (5) year
renewal term (the “Renewal Term”).  This right of renewal is exercisable once only.

Subject to the aforementioned and CentralSquare’s approval, this Agreement shall be
renewed for the Renewal Term.

5. AMENDMENTS

The Corporation and the User may by mutual written agreement agree to amend any
aspect of this Agreement from time to time.

6. LICENSE FEE

The User agrees to pay the Corporation a licence fee (the “Licence Fee”) for the use of
the optional Mobile Enerterprise described in Schedule “C” for the duration of the
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Term, and any Renewal Term, all in accordance with Schedule “C” to this Agreement. 

7. MAINTENANCE FEE

The User shall also pay an annual maintenance fee to the Corporation as described in
Schedule “C”.

8. INVOICE

The Corporation shall submit invoices to the User for any and all amounts arising from
the Enterprise Mobile or other such Optional Value Services as described in Schedules
“C”, “E”, “F”, and “G” of this Agreement.

9. PAYMENT

The User shall pay any invoice submitted by the Corporation within thirty (30) days of
the User’s receipt of such invoice.  Any overdue payments shall be charged interest at
the prime rate of interest charged from time to time by the Royal Bank of Canada to its
most credit-worthy commercial customers in Canada, plus three percent (3%) per
annum.

10. SYSTEM FAILURE/INTERRUPTIONS

The Corporation shall use its best efforts to maintain a fully operational and effective
System at all times but the Corporation shall not, under any circumstances, be
responsible for any failure of the System or interruption in provision of the Services due
to an Excusing Event or any other event or circumstance which could not have been
reasonably anticipated or which was beyond the Corporation’s control.

11. REPORTING REQUIREMENTS

The User shall advise the Corporation as soon as practicable of any incidents or events
which have resulted in failure or perceived failure or inadequate operation of the System
or interruption in the Services and shall provide a written report with full particulars as
soon as possible.  The Corporation shall advise the User as soon as practicable of any
damage to the System or interruption in provision of the Services and shall give the User
as much advance notice as reasonably possible of any planned or potential interruptions
in provision of the Services.

12. PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENTS

The User shall not make any public announcements or statements respecting the System
or provision of the Services without the prior written approval of the Corporation.
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13. INSURANCE

The User shall maintain commercial general liability insurance coverage in an amount
not less than five million ($5,000,000.00) dollars for the Term (and any Renewal Term)
of this Agreement to cover any risks arising out of the provision of the Services under
this Agreement and shall name the Corporation as an additional insured under that
policy.

The User shall provide the Corporation with a copy of the required insurance coverage:

(a) at the time this Agreement is executed; and

(b) on such other occasions as requested by the Corporation.

If the User fails to maintain the insurance coverage required under this Agreement, the 
Corporation may obtain such insurance as the Corporation determines, in its sole 
discretion, to be necessary and the cost of any such insurance shall be paid by the User 
to the Corporation forthwith upon the Corporation claiming payment for same.  

The parties shall immediately advise the other party in writing of any claims made which 
may incur liability by either of them in respect of the operation of the System and the 
provision of the Services and shall cooperate with each other and with their insurers in 
the settlement or defence of such claim.  

14. TERMINATION

Either party may terminate this Agreement during the Term (and any Renewal Term) by
giving not less than three hundred and sixty-five (365) days written notice of termination
to the other party.  If a party neglects or refuses to carry out or is in breach of any
provision under this Agreement the other party hereto, in addition to any other rights
and remedies it may have, may provide written notice of such breach to the other party
and in the event that such other party does not cure such breach within three (3) days
of its receipt of such notice of breach then the non-defaulting party may terminate this
Agreement immediately.  If the Corporation is unable to fulfill its obligations under this
Agreement for a period of not less than thirty (30) consecutive days due to the
occurrence of an Excusable Event, either party may give written notice that the
Agreement is terminated and in which case the Agreement will be terminated effectively
seven (7) days from the date one party delivers notice of such termination to the other
party and in that event both parties are released from any further obligations under this
Agreement.
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15. LIMITS ON LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION

The User hereby releases and holds harmless the Corporation and its shareholders,
directors, officers, employees and agents of and from all actions, claims, liabilities,
injuries, losses, damages, demands, expenses (including legal fees on a solicitor and client
basis), costs, obligations, and demands of every kind and nature which it has, or may
have hereafter, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, and whether arising directly or
indirectly, in whole or in part, by reason of the fault, breach of duty, errors or omissions
of the System or the Services, or any component or part thereof, (including without
limitation, the transmission of property response information or Incident Notification
by email) or of the Corporation or its employees and agents, save and except, where
caused by the malicious or wilful misconduct of the Corporation.  The Corporation shall
not be held responsible for the integrity of property response information including its
accuracy or latency provided by Incident Notification or any other Service.

The User will indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Corporation and its shareholders,
directors, officers, employees and agents from and against all claims, losses, damages,
costs (including legal fees and disbursements), expenses, causes of action and liabilities
in respect of personal injury, including death or disease, or loss of or damage to property
or economic interests of a non-party hereto which are caused or contributed to, directly
or indirectly, by the fault, negligence or other breach of duty of the User, its directors,
officers, employees, contractors, subcontractors and any other person for whom the
User is responsible.  Without restricting the generality of the foregoing, the User shall
release, indemnify and hold harmless the Corporation and its directors, officers,
employees and agents from and against all claims, losses, damages, costs (including legal
fees and disbursements), expenses, actions, causes of action and liabilities, including
levies, charges, fines which is caused or contributed to by the User, its officers, directors,
employees or subcontractors, or other persons for whom the User is responsible, arising
from or relating to errors and omissions associated with property response information,
conveyance of instant information to a Fire Department via email, lands, premises or
equipment in respect of which the Services or any of the Optional Value Services,
including without limiting the foregoing, the Hazard & Special Instruction Property
Services which are provided, or will be provided, by the Corporation pursuant to this
Agreement.

16. CONFIDENTIALITY

In this agreement all any “personal information” as defined by the Freedom of
Information and Protection of Privacy Act collected, recorded, or provided to the user
Fire Departments is to be protected. User Fire Departments shall avoid the disclosure
of personal information to the public unless obtained through the Freedom of
Information Act.

Written requests for printed records, created from electronic records, or audio records
of incidents will be processed as per the Freedom of Information and Protection of
Privacy Act unless directed through the police, member fire departments or shareholders
or the 9-1-1 Corporation. “The Corporation and User Fire Departments shall not use,
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copy, duplicate, reproduce, translate or adapt, either directly or indirectly, any personal 
information for any purpose other than providing the Services.” 

17. DISPUTE RESOLUTION

In this clause, “dispute” means any dispute arising out of or in connection with this
Agreement or in respect of any defined legal relationship associated with it or derived
from it or any matter requiring the agreement of the parties under this Agreement.

The parties agree to make bona fide efforts to resolve any disputes arising between them
by amicable negotiations and to provide frank, candid and timely disclosure of all
relevant facts, information and documents to facilitate those negotiations.

If the Corporation and the User are unable to resolve any dispute by way of mediation
or negotiation, then either party may refer the matter to arbitration, in which case an
arbitration will take place at the British Columbia International Commercial Arbitration
Centre (“BCICAC”), in accordance with BCICAC’s Rules then in effect, which
arbitration shall be governed by the Commercial Arbitration Act RSBC 1996, c.55. where
any such dispute is brought before arbitration, the decision of the arbitrator shall be final
and binding upon both the User and the Corporation.  Each party shall bear its own
costs and attorney fees with respect to any such arbitration, the cost of the arbitration
shall be split evenly between the parties.

18. PREVIOUS REPRESENTATION EXCLUDED

All prior negotiations and agreements between the parties related to the subject matter
of this Agreement are superseded by this Agreement.  There are no representations,
warranties, understandings or agreements other than those expressly set forth in this
Agreement or subsequently agreed to in writing by a duly authorized representative of
the Corporation or the User.

19. WAIVER

Any failure of the Corporation or the User to enforce or to require the strict performance
of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall not, in any way, constitute a waiver of
those provisions or affect or impair those provisions or any right the Corporation or the
User has at any time to avail itself of any remedies it may have for any breach of these
provisions or to require the Services to be performed in accordance with this Agreement.

Neither party is bound by a waiver of any provision of this Agreement unless the waiver
is clearly expressed in writing and signed by the party’s representative.

20. LAWS

This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the Province of British Columbia.  The
parties agree to comply with all laws, rules, regulations, bylaws, permits and licenses
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which apply to the subject matter of this Agreement. 

21. SUCCESSORS/ASSIGNS

This Agreement shall operate and take effect for the benefit of, and be binding upon,
the Corporation and the User and their respective successors and assigns. The User may
not assign its interest in this Agreement without the prior approval of the Corporation.

22. COVENANTS

The User does hereby covenant and agree that:

(a) the due and punctual payment of all sums which may from time to time be payable
by the User to the Corporation under this Agreement; and

(b) the prompt and complete observance and performance of all of the provisions to
be observed or performed by the User under this Agreement.

23. REPRESENTATIONS

The User represents and warrants that:

(a) it is a legally constituted organization;

(b) it has the legal capacity and full authority to enter into this Agreement and bind
itself to the obligations under this Agreement;

(c) it will abide by and strictly adhere to the CentralSquare’s Software Systems
Operation Policy as attached in Schedule “H” to this Agreement and as may be
modified by the Corporation from time to time; and

(d) the entering into this Agreement by the User does not contravene any bylaws,
articles or other constating documents of the User or constitute a breach of any
agreements the User may have with any third parties.

24. NOTICES

Any notices required under this Agreement shall be delivered or sent personally, by mail
or by facsimile transmission to the named representatives of the parties at the address
and numbers provided below.  A notice sent by mail shall be deemed to have been
received seven days from the date of posting.  The parties agree to use the most
expeditious method of giving notice specified in this provision in the circumstances of
a particular case.  In the event of a disruption in mail services, notices shall be given by
personal delivery or facsimile transmission.
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North Island 9-1-1 Corporation:  

North Island 9-1-1 Corporation 
770 Harmston Avenue 
Courtenay, BC V9N 0G8 
(250) 334-6000 (Telephone)
(250) 334-4358 (Facsimile)

Attention: Brian Pearson 

User:  Fire Department 

Street Address 
City, BC Postal Code 
(Telephone) 
(Facsimile) 

Attention: 

25. COUNTERPARTS AND RIGHT

This Agreement may be signed in counterparts, which together shall constitute one
agreement. If this Agreement is signed in counterparts, no signatory hereto shall be
bound until all parties named below have duly executed, or caused to be duly executed,
a counterpart of this Agreement.

The person(s) signing on behalf of each party represents that he or she has the right and
power to execute this Agreement.
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The parties to this Agreement hereby agree to the terms and conditions as at the date first 
above written. 

NORTH ISLAND 9-1-1 CORPORATION 

Brian Pearson – Deputy Secretary 

Authorized Signatory 

THE USER 

Authorized Signature 

Authorized Signature 
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SCHEDULE “A” 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

1. Subject to paragraph 2 of this Schedule, the Corporation shall perform the following
Services:

(a) coordinate the implementation and ongoing operation of any Optional Value
Services and the CAD Browser Enterprise;

(b) provide Services including any Optional Value Services and the CAD Browser
Enterprise

(c) maintain and update as necessary the technical aspects of the CAD Browser
Enterprise and any Optional Value Services subject to any annual maintenance
fees;

(d) provide written operating rules and procedures for utilization of any Optional
Value Services and the CAD Browser Enterprise;

(e) provide other training, services and support for utilization of Optional Value
Services and the CAD Browser Enterprise.

2. Notwithstanding any other provisions set out within the Agreement, the User agrees
that it will have no right of claim for any damage, loss, expense, costs or other losses
suffered by the User arising from the installation of the Mobile Enterprise in any of its
vehicles as installed by the Corporation or its employees, agents or contractors.  The
User further agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Corporation and its
shareholders, directors, officers, employees and agents from and against all claims,
losses, damages, costs (including legal fees and disbursements), expenses, causes of
action and liabilities in respect of any damage to property or economic interests of a
non-party hereto caused by the initial installation of the  Mobile Enterprise in the
vehicles, directly or indirectly from such installation.

3. The Corporation:

(a) shall not provide hardware or installation of hardware to operate the Services
including any Optional Value Services except where an agreement is reached
between the Corporation and the User;

(b) shall not guarantee email service due to the fact that the Corporation does not
have control over the services and systems owned and operated by third party
wireless and internet providers.

4. The Incident Notification by email service is not intended to be used in lieu of the
VHF radio paging systems currently provided by the Corporation.  Fire Departments
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are responsible for managing their own member’s access to the three email addresses 
that are maintained per department by the Corporation per Schedule “G”.  

5. The CAD Browser Enterprise incident information will be maintained by the
Corporation for seven years per the records retention policy in Schedule “B”.
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SCHEDULE B 

 CAD BROWSER ENTERPRISE  

(formerly known as VisiNet Browser) 

1. The CAD Browser Enterprise provides Fire Departments with a single username and
password for access to incident records for their jurisdiction. The CAD Browser
Enterprise provides fire chiefs with remote access to real-time and historical incident
information, maintained by NI 9-1-1 for seven years per the records retention policy
which is subject to change from time to time as deemed necessary by the director’s of
the Corporation.

2. Records Retention Policy (effective as of October 29, 2008)

1) All records required to be retention in this policy shall be secured as at least
two copies.

2) At least one of the copies of information required to be retained in this policy
shall be reasonably secured to prevent loss due to disasters such as fire, flood
or earthquake.

3) Electronic records of incidents processed by Fire Dispatch shall be retained
for seven (7) years;
Audio records of incidents shall be retained for two (2) years; and
Printed records of incidents will not be retained.

4) Written requests for printed records, created from electronic records, or audio
records of incidents will be processed as per the Freedom of Information and
Protection of Privacy Act unless directed though the police, member Fire
Departments or shareholders or the 9-1-1 Corporation.

3. Remote access will be restricted to the Internet Protocol addresses that are used and
provided by municipal or regional district government networks, or in the case of rural
Fire Departments the Internet Protocol address used within the Fire Department.
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SCHEDULE “C” 

MOBILE ENTERPRISE (formerly Visinet Mobile) FEE 

1. The Mobile Enterprise  fee to be paid by the User to the Corporation shall consist of
a onetime license fee per installation per vehicle for the Mobile Enterprise option of
one thousand three hundred fifty  ($1,350.00) dollars per installation per vehicle within
the Boundaries for a total aggregate amount of $1,350 dollars (based upon zero (0)
pre-existing Licences within the Boundaries.) Commencing October 2013, the User
will also make payment to the Corporation of an annual maintenance fee, which will
be payable for each year of the Term, and the Renewal Term, if any.  In the first year
of the Term, the Mobile Enterprise annual maintenance fee charge shall three hundred
and sixty-five ($365.00).

2. By November 1st of each year of the Term, and the Renewal Term, if any, the User
shall provide the Corporation with:

(a) the current number of installations and vehicles within the Boundaries, and

(b) supporting documentation.

3. The annual maintenance fee as set out in paragraph 1 of this Schedule “C” may vary
each year of the Term, and the Renewal Term, if any, other than the first year of the
Term, based upon:

(a) any changes in the number of installations and vehicles within the
Boundaries to be provided Services by the Corporation,

(b) any amendments made under section 5 of the Agreement.

4. Subject to paragraph 5 of this Schedule “C”, the User shall be responsible for paying
for any hardware costs, including but not limited to operation or maintenance costs of
any hardware uses which arise, directly or indirectly, as a result of a claim made in
respect of the provision of the Services for which the User, its directors, officers,
contractors, agents or employees are found to be legally responsible including, but not
limited to, the following:

(a) the Corporation’s costs of defending and paying all or any part of the claim;

(b) the amount of a deductible assumed by the Corporation for the claim;

(c) the cost of any increase in a premium of insurance paid by the Corporation
resulting from the claim.

5. The Users’ responsibility for paying the operating costs under paragraph 4 of this
Schedule “C” is limited to payment of the total amount of that proportion of the claim
for which the User, and its directors, officers, contractors, agents or employees are
found to be legally responsible.
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SCHEDULE “D” 

BOUNDARIES OF THE NORTH ISLAND 9-1-1 CORPORATION 
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SCHEDULE “E” 

MOBILE ENTERPRISE INSTALLATIONS 

1. The Mobile Enterprise application is a wireless mobile data application meant to
provide real-time incident data, integrated mapping and full messaging capabilities.

2. Mobile Enterprise System Requirements

1. Operating System Microsoft® Windows 10- 64 bit.

2. Hardware

CPU       One 1.66 GHz or faster processor 

RAM       4 GB  

Hard Drive     20 GB minimum* 

*Note: Additional space may be required for map layers, pre-plan files, or third
party applications 

Display 1024x768 recommended minimum, at normal size (96 
dpi)  

GPS        TAIP PV and TM Message with future migration to  
       NMEA RMC Message 

Time Synchronization If GPS time synchronization is not being used 
        and time synchronization is required 

Data Modem 3G or CDMA with dynamic IP address 

3. All hardware and system purchases, including but not limited to, the power supply,
the computer, the display, the wireless internet modem and the cellular and GPS
antennas are the responsibility of the user. All hardware for each Mobile
Entperprise installation must be installed and tested for connectivity prior to the
Corporation’s staff installing the Mobile Enterprise application.

4. The User is responsible for all costs associated with establishing and maintaining
an internet data account with a third party wireless provider as per the data modem
system requirements found in paragraph 3 of this Schedule “E”.

5. The User may be subject to additional charges from the Corporation of $75 per
hour for time used by the Corporation Technology Manager to rectify,
troubleshoot or fix any part of the system hardware supplied by the User.
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SCHEDULE “F” 

HAZARD & SPECIAL INSTRUCTION PROPERTY SERVICES 

1. The User has the option to provide the Corporation with critical response information
relating to specific properties within the Boundaries.

2. Critical response information includes:

a) Threats to responders (police to attend all calls) potentially violent
occupants, known drug activity, vicious animals, weapons

b) Threats to responders (universal precautions) potential exposure
to HIV, hepatitis or any other hazardous blood or airborne pathogens

c) Threats to responders (proceed with caution) vacant buildings,
compromised structures, hazardous materials

d) Property Information (Property Information) Pre-Plans, disabled
occupants

e) Property Information (Response Plans) Automatic Aid,
construction/ renovation activities, fire alarm testing, road
construction/ closures.

3. The User must fill out and sign the Form included in this Schedule “F” conveying the
address, the critical response information and the length of time the information is to
remain in the Enterprise CAD system. Users wishing to supply information for
multiple properties shall submit the information in a manner that is reasonable and
satisfactory to the Corporation.

4. The submission of Pre-Plan information shall be submitted electronically in addition
to a completed and signed Form included in this Schedule “F”.
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VISICAD SYSTEM 
PROPERTY & RESPONSE INFORMATION 

FORM 

Fire Department 

Completed forms to be faxed to 250-286-4701 or files emailed to firedispatch@ni911.ca 

Print Name 

Signature Date   dd/mm/yyyy 

 

Property Address   (not required if multiple files) 

Building Name  (not required if multiple files) 

Check off if submitting multiple files Please use PDF files (under 300 Kb) 

Pre-Plans (only to be filled out for pre-plans) 

 

Property Address  

Building Name 

Select one of the following: 
Access / Codes / Keys Response Information 

Hazmat Scene Safety 

Non-Hydranted Area Wait for Police 

Description of:  

Start Date     dd/mm/yyyy End Date   dd/mm/yyyy 

All Caution Notes to be reviewed on an annual basis 

Caution Notes (Critical Response Information – not required for pre-plans) 

 

Contact the Fire Dispatch Manager for response plan templates at firedispatch@ni911.ca 

Requests for Changes to Response Plans 
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SCHEDULE “G” 

INCIDENT NOTIFICATIONS 

1. The User will have the option to receive real time incident notification via electronic
mail messages generated by the Enterprise CAD dispatch system.

2. The User has the option of providing the Corporation with up to three (3) electronic
mail addresses, and having each address separately configured to receive notifications
of General, Duty Officer, First Responder, or All dispatch occurrences.

3. The User is responsible for providing and managing their own distribution system of
the electronic mail messages to their Fire Department members.
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SCHEDULE “H” 

CENTRALSQURE SOFTWARE SYSTEMS OPERATIONAL POLICY 

(MAY 2021) 

PURPOSE: 

The purpose of the CentralSquare software systems operational policy is to prescribe 
guidelines for the administration, support and service delivery of the features provided by 
the CentralSquare CAD software. 

SCOPE: 

The scope of this policy relates to the CentralSquare Software System computer-
aided dispatch system utilized by NI 9-1-1 Corporation fire dispatch. 

PROCEDURE: 

1.0 The following value-added services are available to all fire departments within the 
North Island 9-1-1 Corporation service area. To begin receiving one or more of the optional 
value-added services, a fire department must enter into a written agreement for these 
services with the North Island 9-1-1 Corp. All agreements require approval from the 
requesting fire department's governing authority. 

1.1 CAD Browser Enterprise – NI911 will provide Fire departments with a single 
username and password to access incident records for their jurisdiction. Incident records will 
be accessible through the CAD Browser Enterprise for seven (7) years per the NI 9-1-1 
Corporation records retention policy. 

1.2 Mobile Enterprise (optional) – Fire departments are responsible for the initial 
purchase and annual maintenance costs for Mobile Enterprise software and all associated 
hardware. It is the sole responsibility of a fire department to obtain a current technical 
specification guideline from the technology manager before purchasing/installing mobile 
hardware. 

1.3 Hazard & Special Instruction Property Information (optional) - Fire departments 
must provide property information to NI 9-1-1 Corporation in a format and manner deemed 
acceptable by NI 9-1-1 Corporation staff. NI 9-1-1 Corporation shall not be held responsible 
for property information integrity, including its accuracy or latency. 

1.4 Incident Notification (optional) – NI 9-1-1 Corporation will maintain up to three 
email addresses per fire department at the fire departments' request. Incident Notification is 
an optional service and is not intended to replace the VHF radio paging system. NI 9-1-1 
Corporation shall not be held liable for any errors or omissions associated with the 
conveyance of incident information to a fire department via email 
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SCHEDULE “I” 

THE EMERGENCY ANSWERING SYSTEM 

The North Island 9-1-1 Emergency Answering System consists of:  

(1) one Primary Safety Answering Point (“PSAP”) located at E-COMM 911 in
Vancouver, British Columbia, and

(2) one Secondary Safety Answering Point (“SSAP”) located at the City of
Campbell River, British Columbia, Fire Department for fire dispatch,

(the “System”). 

A11 9-1-1 calls dialled in the System will be answered at the PSAP E-COMM 911 in 
Vancouver.  The E-COMM Operator will determine whether the call is for police, fire or 
ambulance dispatch services.  

If the call is for police services, the E-COMM 911 Communications Operator will transfer the 
call to the RCMP/OCC center in Courtenay for response.  

If the call is for fire services, the E-COMM 911 Communications Operator will transfer the 
call to the SSAP at the City of Campbell River Fire Department for response.  

If the call is for ambulance services, the E-COMM 911 Communications Operator will transfer 
the call to the SSAP at the B .C. Ambulance Service in Victoria for response.  

The System will be operated in accordance with the policies and procedures set out in the 
Corporation’s Operational Procedures Manual as may be amended from time to time by the 
Corporation.  
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 BC HydroApplicant:

1.  

1.  

Provincial Agricultural Land Commission -
Applicant Submission

 63130Application ID:
 In ProgressApplication Status:

 BC Hydro Applicant:
 BC Hydro Agent:

 Local Government:
 This application has not been submitted to local government yet.Local Government Date of Receipt:

 This application has not been submitted to ALC yet. ALC Date of Receipt:
 Non-Farm Use Proposal Type:

 BC Hydro is proposing the Lynx Creek boat launch on the Peace River, Proposal:
where the future Site C Reservoir will be located. A figure showing the boat launch location is included in
this application. This boat launch is part of the Site C Outdoor Recreation Mitigation Plan requirement
outlined in the Environmental Assessment Certificate issued to the project (EAC #E14-02, Schedule B,
Condition No. 40). 

The lands where the launch is planned are presently ~135m away from the Peace River shoreline, hence
the construction-phase works will not affect river users. The Lynx Creek boat launch would be
constructed in summer 2021. The floating dock would not be constructed until after the reservoir filling is

completed and the reservoir has stabilized.

Agent Information

 BC Hydro Agent:
 Mailing Address:

1111 W Georgia St
Vancouver, BC
V6E 4G2
Canada

 (604) 329-2327Primary Phone:
 alex.gray@bchydro.comEmail:

Parcel Information

Parcel(s) Under Application

 Fee Simple Ownership Type:
 014-741-342Parcel Identifier:

 See TitleLegal Description:
 7 ha Parcel Area:

 4643 MILLAR RD Hudson'S HopeCivic Address:
 07/04/2016Date of Purchase:

 No Farm Classification:
Owners

 BC Hydro Name:
 Address:

SR4
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 BC HydroApplicant:

1.  

1.  

2.  

1.  

3.  

1.  

1111 W Georgia St
Vancouver, BC
V6E 4G2
Canada

 (604) 329-2327Phone:
 alex.gray@bchydro.comEmail:

 Fee Simple Ownership Type:
 014-806-614Parcel Identifier:

 See TitleLegal Description:
 8 ha Parcel Area:

 19473 N HIGHWAY 29 Hudson'S HopeCivic Address:
 10/29/1979Date of Purchase:

 No Farm Classification:
Owners

 BC Hydro Name:
 Address:

1111 W Georgia St
Vancouver, BC
V6E 4G2
Canada

 (604) 329-2327Phone:
 alex.gray@bchydro.comEmail:

 Fee Simple Ownership Type:
 006-814-000Parcel Identifier:

 See TitleLegal Description:
 1 ha Parcel Area:

 n/aCivic Address:
 09/18/1981Date of Purchase:

 No Farm Classification:
Owners

 BC Hydro Name:
 Address:

1111 W Georgia St
Vancouver, BC
V6E 4G2
Canada

 (604) 329-2327Phone:
 alex.gray@bchydro.comEmail:

Current Use of Parcels Under Application

1. Quantify and describe in detail all agriculture that currently takes place on the parcel(s).
No agriculture.

2. Quantify and describe in detail all agricultural improvements made to the parcel(s).
No Agricultural Improvements

3. Quantify and describe all non-agricultural uses that currently take place on the parcel(s).
Land is currently vacant, all structures have be demolished or removed.
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 BC HydroApplicant:

Adjacent Land Uses

North

 Residential Land Use Type:
 Forested land, roads.Specify Activity:

East

 Commercial / Retail Land Use Type:
 CampgroundSpecify Activity:

South

 Transportation/Utilities Land Use Type:
 Communication, Utility, ImprovementsSpecify Activity:

West

 Unused Land Use Type:
 Forested land, roads.Specify Activity:

Proposal

1. How many hectares are proposed for non-farm use?
2 ha

2. What is the purpose of the proposal?
BC Hydro is proposing the Lynx Creek boat launch on the Peace River,
where the future Site C Reservoir will be located. A figure showing the boat launch location is included in
this application. This boat launch is part of the Site C Outdoor Recreation Mitigation Plan requirement
outlined in the Environmental Assessment Certificate issued to the project (EAC #E14-02, Schedule B,
Condition No. 40).

The lands where the launch is planned are presently ~135m away from the Peace River shoreline, hence
the construction-phase works will not affect river users. The Lynx Creek boat launch would be
constructed in summer 2021. The floating dock would not be constructed until after the reservoir filling is

completed and the reservoir has stabilized.

3. Could this proposal be accommodated on lands outside of the ALR? Please justify why the
proposal cannot be carried out on lands outside the ALR.
The nearest cultivated field is approximately 400m north of the proposed Lynx Creek Boat Launch, and
across the new highway alignment. Therefore, there is expected to be no impact on nearby agricultural
activities. The adjacent land is currently forested along with some rural homes in the area.
Access to the new boat launch will be constructed off of the new highway realignment. There is a gate
planned at the driveways to/from the launch, but no fencing is expected.

The Lynx Creek boat launch was sited to be in close proximity to the existing launch. Other factors
considered in selecting this location were land ownership (BC Hydro owned land sought out), heritage
and cultural considerations, geotechnical, and access. Recommendations from the District of Hudsons
Hope and local boater groups were also factored in.

4. Does the proposal support agriculture in the short or long term? Please explain.
No.
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 BC HydroApplicant:

PID: 014-741-342  7 ha (Actual Use: Residential) 
PID: 014-806-614  8 ha (Actual Use: Commercial  camp ground) 
PID: 006-814-000  1 ha (Actual Use: Transportation, Communication, Utility, Improvements) 

The BC Hydro owned land is currently not used for agricultural purposes. 

5. Do you need to import any fill to construct or conduct the proposed Non-farm use?
Yes

Proposal dimensions

 Total fill placement area (0.01 ha is 100 m )2 1.5 ha
 Maximum depth of material to be placed as fill 2.7 m

 Volume of material to be placed as fill 10320 m3

   Estimated duration of the project. 3 Years 5 Months

Describe the type and amount of fill proposed to be placed.
Riprap  shoreline protection and erosion and sediment control material. 

High Fines Surfacing Aggregate (HFSA) - HFSA is used for surfacing of gravel roads. Cohesion for this
aggregate is achieved by plastic fines. 

Intermediate Graded Base (IGB) - These are high strength, high load bearing, high quality, crushed
granular base materials. As these materially are not well suited for long-term traffic, they are usually
overlaid by surface course materials (HFSA or asphalt/concrete pavement). 

IGB is intermediate in gradation and permeability between well-graded aggregate and open-graded
aggregate. 

Select Granular Sub Base (SGSB). - A granular material placed between the sub-grade and the base
course aggregates, providing strength and drainage to the pavement structure. SGSB is the standard
aggregate, crushed or screened, placed directly above subgrade, with moderate permeability and a wide
gradation. 

Bridge End Fill (BEF) - BEF is quality granular fill primarily used behind and below a bridge abutment
to provide good drainage, a smooth transition from the bridge approaches to the bridge structure, and a
suitable material through which to drive piles.

Briefly describe the origin and quality of fill.
The test pits in Area 3 (see attached figure) encountered a relatively durable and clean, sandy gravel that
appears to be suitable for granular construction borrow. It is anticipated that with typical processing
operations (selective excavation, blending, screening and processing), resources obtained from Area 3
would be suitable from both a gradation and durability perspective for production of general granular fill
products (structural fill, drainage blankets, bridge end fill), granular pavement structure products (select
granular sub-base, some 
crushed base course), and crushed shouldering aggregates meeting current (2016) BC MoTI Standard
Specifications for Highway Construction.

Applicant Attachments

Agent Agreement-BC Hydro
Proposal Sketch-63130
Other correspondence or file information-Profiles
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 BC HydroApplicant:

Other correspondence or file information-IFTs
Other correspondence or file information-Consultation
Other correspondence or file information-Land Capability for Agriculture
Other correspondence or file information-Area 3
Certificate of Title-014-741-342
Certificate of Title-014-806-614
Certificate of Title-006-814-000

ALC Attachments

None. 

Decisions

None.

Special Council Meeting Page 97 of 183



Site C Permitting and Regulatory 
1111 West Georgia, 9TH f loor  
Vancouver, BC V6E 4G2 

To Whom it may concern, 

Re: Authorization of Alex Gray as agent in the matter of ALC application 63130 

I hereby appoint Alex Gray to make application 63130 to the Agricultural Land Commission as 
agent on behalf of British Columbia Hydro and Power Authority.  

Yours truly, 

BRITISH COLUMBIA HYDRO 
AND POWER AUTHORITY 
by: 

Karen Von Muehldorfer  
Regulatory Manager 
Site C Clean Energy Project 
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The land description for the proposed boat launch is: 

BC Hydro-owned land: 

• The Fractional North West 1/4 of Section 34 Township 81 Range 25 West of the 6th Meridian
Peace River District lying North West of the Peace River Except Parcel A (Plan 22969) and
Except Plan 21821

• Parcel A (Plan 22969) of the North West 1/4 of Section 34 Township 81 Range 25 West of the 6th
Meridian Peace River District Except Plan 26870

• That Part of Parcel A (Plan 22969) of the North West 1/4 of Section 34 Township 81 Range 25
West of the 6th Meridian Peace River District as shown on Statutory Right of Way Plan 26870 to
be known hereafter as Pcl. 1 (R40280) of the North West 1/4 of Section 34 Township 81 Range
25 West of the 6th Meridian Peace River District Plan 26870.

Land under the pronvical highway authority (developed under agreement with BCH): 

• Those portions of Highway 29 and Road Right of Way located within Sections 33 and 34
Township 81 Range 25 West of the 6th Meridian Peace River District

3 CONSULTATION 
During the consultation initiated by BC Hydro and Transport Canada during the NPA approval application 
for the Site C main civil works, a boat launch near Lynx Creek was described. This application represents 
a refinement of this conceptual commitment.The details on location and design in this application were 
presented to local indigenous groups during the Site C Permitting Forum #16, held February 20th, 2020 in 
Fort St. John. 
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Land Capability for Agriculture 

See below the description of the land capability for agriculture for the Lynx Creek Boat Launch. 

2CT73T3  

LAND IN THIS CLASS HAS MINOR LIMITATIONS THAT REQUIRE GOOD ONGOING 
MANAGEMENT PRACTISES OR SLIGHTLY RESTRICT THE RANGE OF CROPS, OR BOTH. 
Adverse climate (excluding precipitation) 
Topography 

LAND IN THIS CLASS HAS LIMITATIONS THAT REQUIRE MODERATELY INTENSIVE 
MANAGEMENT PRACTISES OR MODERATELY RESTRICT THE RANGE OF CROPS, OR 
BOTH. 
Topography 
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**CURRENT INFORMATION ONLY - NO CANCELLED INFORMATION SHOWN**

Land Title District PRINCE GEORGE
Land Title Office PRINCE GEORGE

Title Number CA5313617
From Title Number R40281

Application Received 2016-07-04

Application Entered 2016-07-08

Registered Owner in Fee Simple
Registered Owner/Mailing Address: BRITISH COLUMBIA HYDRO AND POWER AUTHORITY

12TH FLOOR, 333 DUNSMUIR STREET
VANCOUVER, BC
V6B 5R3

Taxation Authority Peace River Assessment District

Description of Land
Parcel Identifier: 014-741-342
Legal Description:

PARCEL A (PLAN 22969 OF THE NORTH WEST 1/4 OF SECTION 34 TOWNSHIP 81
RANGE 25 WEST OF THE 6TH MERIDIAN PEACE RIVER DISTRICT, EXCEPT PLAN
26870

Legal Notations
THIS CERTIFICATE OF TITLE MAY BE AFFECTED BY THE AGRICULTURAL LAND
COMMISSION ACT, SEE AGRICULTURAL LAND RESERVE PLAN NO. 21608

Charges, Liens and Interests
Nature: STATUTORY RIGHT OF WAY
Registration Number: R5757
Registration Date and Time: 1981-02-12 14:28
Registered Owner: BRITISH COLUMBIA HYDRO AND POWER AUTHORITY
Remarks: PART ON PLAN 26871

Duplicate Indefeasible Title NONE OUTSTANDING

Transfers NONE

TITLE SEARCH PRINT 2021-03-02, 11:31:14

File Reference: Requestor: Eugene Lim

Declared Value $525000  
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Pending Applications NONE

TITLE SEARCH PRINT 2021-03-02, 11:31:14

File Reference: Requestor: Eugene Lim

Declared Value $525000
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**CURRENT INFORMATION ONLY - NO CANCELLED INFORMATION SHOWN**

Title Issued Under SECTION 172 LAND TITLE ACT

Land Title District PRINCE GEORGE
Land Title Office PRINCE GEORGE

Title Number O40284
From Title Number G3673

Application Received 1979-10-29

Application Entered 1979-11-05

Registered Owner in Fee Simple
Registered Owner/Mailing Address: BRITISH COLUMBIA HYDRO AND POWER AUTHORITY

970 BURRARD STREET
VANCOUVER, BC
V6Z 1Y3

Taxation Authority Hudson's Hope, District of

Description of Land
Parcel Identifier: 014-806-614
Legal Description:

THE FRACTIONAL NORTH WEST 1/4 OF SECTION 34 TOWNSHIP 81 RANGE 25
WEST OF THE 6TH MERIDIAN PEACE RIVER DISTRICT LYING NORTH WEST OF
THE PEACE RIVER EXCEPT PARCEL A (PLAN 22969) AND EXCEPT PLAN 21821

Legal Notations
PERSONAL PROPERTY SECURITY ACT NOTICE, SEE BX55159 EXPIRES 2030/08/01

THIS CERTIFICATE OF TITLE MAY BE AFFECTED BY THE AGRICULTURAL LAND
COMMISSION ACT, SEE AGRICULTURAL LAND RESERVE PLAN NO. 21608

Charges, Liens and Interests NONE

Duplicate Indefeasible Title NONE OUTSTANDING

Transfers NONE

Pending Applications NONE

TITLE SEARCH PRINT 2021-03-02, 11:31:13

File Reference: Requestor: Eugene Lim
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**CURRENT INFORMATION ONLY - NO CANCELLED INFORMATION SHOWN**

Title Issued Under SECTION 172 LAND TITLE ACT

Land Title District PRINCE GEORGE
Land Title Office PRINCE GEORGE

Title Number R40280
From Title Number M3337

Application Received 1981-09-18

Application Entered 1981-09-21

Registered Owner in Fee Simple
Registered Owner/Mailing Address: BRITISH COLUMBIA HYDRO AND POWER AUTHORITY

970 BURRARD STREET
VANCOUVER, BC
V6Z 1Y3

Taxation Authority Hudson's Hope, District of

Description of Land
Parcel Identifier: 006-814-000
Legal Description:

THAT PART OF PARCEL A (PLAN 22969) OF THE NORTH WEST 1/4 OF SECTION 34
TOWNSHIP 81 RANGE 25 WEST OF THE 6TH MERIDIAN PEACE RIVER DISTRICT AS SHOWN
ON STATUTORY RIGHT OF WAY PLAN 26870 TO BE KNOWN HEREAFTER AS
PARCEL 1 (R40280) OF THE NORTH WEST 1/4 OF SECTION 34 TOWNSHIP 81 RANGE 25
WEST OF THE 6TH MERIDIAN PEACE RIVER DISTRICT PLAN 26870

Legal Notations
THIS CERTIFICATE MAY BE AFFECTED BY THE AGICULTURAL LAND COMMISSION
ACT SEE PLAN 21608

Charges, Liens and Interests NONE

Duplicate Indefeasible Title NONE OUTSTANDING

Transfers NONE

Pending Applications NONE

TITLE SEARCH PRINT 2021-03-02, 11:31:14

File Reference: Requestor: Eugene Lim
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THE DISTRICT OF HUDSON’S HOPE 

REPORT TO: Mayor and Council 

SUBJECT: CAO Update 

DATE: June 21, 2021 

FROM:  Mokles Rahman, CAO 

Below please find highlights of some of the major activities either done or underway in the Office of the 
CAO during the period of May 19 to June 23, 2021. 

• Draft Annual Report submitted to Council and posted on the District website for public comments.
The annual report should be adopted during the June 28, 2021 Council meeting.

• Statement of Financial Information (SOFI) report deadline is June 30, 2021. The report has been
submitted to Council for adoption on June 28, 2021.

• Water Treatment Plant (WTP) Upgrade: A detailed report submitted by District’s consulting
engineer, which has been added under correspondence of this Council meeting. Few points to
highlight;

a. Though contractor does not agree, the WTP is not ready for the issuance of Substantial
Completion Certificate. Contractor is working in fixing the deficiencies.

b. Consultant engaged two sub-consultants who are reviewing different options to resolve the
water quality and odour issues.

c. There are unresolved commissioning issues which are under investigation.

• Traffic bylaw update: Draft survey questionnaire and strategies submitted by the consultant and was
circulated to Council for comments. Mayor and some Council members submitted comments and
were sent to the consultant for review and consideration.

• District office outside work: Council approved a budget of $30,900 from contingency funds for the
repair of i) exterior siding of the District office, ii) Council chamber entrance concrete repair &
painting.

• Swimming Pool: Swimming Pool operations going on by adding calcium chloride which is a new
addition with respect to the last year as the WTP water is too soft.  From this year the operating
costs of swimming pool will be higher due to addition of calcium and increased staff time.

• Land Administration:

a. L. Summer subdivision located in Adam Street has been pre- approved.

b. Light Industrial:

i. Jamieson Avenue road right-of-way closure bylaw report submitted to Council for
1st, 2nd and 3rd reading.

ii. Public Notice issued on our website and news paper.
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iii. Adoption of bylaw scheduled for June 28, 2021 Council meeting.

• COVID-19 resilience infrastructure grant application has been declined.

HR 

• Completed quarterly performance review of senior staff; Director of Protective Services, Manager of
Public Works, and Corporate Officer.

• Lead Hand selection process going on.

• General Trade position posting closed on June 18, 2021.

Upcoming Activities: 

• Substantial Completion Certificate (SCC) for Water Treatment Plant.

• Complete recruitment of Lead Hand and one General Trade.

Prepared by: 

____________________ 
Mokles Rahman, CAO 
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THE DISTRICT OF HUDSON’S HOPE 

REPORT TO: Mayor and Council 

SUBJECT: Public Works Department Update 

DATE: June 21, 2021  

FROM:  Mokles Rahman, CAO 

Below please find highlights of some of the activities either done or underway in the Public Works 
Department during the period of May 19 to June 23, 2021. 

A. OPERATIONS:

• Grass cutting:  Summer employees are spending a lot of time in cutting grass because of growth
of grass is significant, which is taking a lot of staff time from other important summer jobs.

• Groundskeeping: Groundskeeping progress are good, flower plants are on the ground. Regular
maintenance going on.

• Road grading: There is a shortage of road grader operator because of resignation of a general
trade employee.

• All campground operations are going on by following the PHO Orders. Prepared enough
campfire wood for the season.

• Operators will be working to repair a water valve at the water reservoir control building in the
early morning on June 24, 2021. This would impact the water services for few hours in Jamieson
and Thompson area.

• Community Hall: Public Works staff cleaned the mushroom growth in the basement of the
community hall. As the building is very old and not used that much, there are possibilities of
mold issues in the basement. This building requires major rehabilitation to make it suitable for
public use.

B. Capital Projects:

1. MacDougall Street Rehab: Construction Kick-off meeting scheduled for June 23, 2021.
Construction will start the work on August 3, 2021.

2. Lynx Creek Re-pavement (Ph-2): Contractor started road base work in the week of June 21, 2021
and would complete by the end of the month.

3. Arena and Curling Rink condenser replacement:  Yeti Refrigeration representatives were here
and worked on the condenser replacement. They would come back next month to finish the
remaining work.

4. Water Mixers: RFP closing date was June 21, 2021.Three proposals received.
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5. Conducted pre-tender site meetings with two local contractors for the following projects: i)
Beryl Prairie subdivision two culverts, ii) Carter Street two culverts, and iii) drainage issues at the
post office lot.

6. Posted RFP for Washroom block at the Dinosaur Lake campground with a closing date of June
28, 2021.  Had a pretender site meeting with one contractor.

C. Operating Projects:

1. Tent is up near the swimming pool.

2. East welcome sign: Delayed due to COVID impact to contractor’s staff. As per contractor, the
design work will be finished by the week of June 28, 2021.

UPCOMING ACTIVITES: 

• Capital and Operating project construction.

• Installation of East welcome sign.

• Tennis court net replacement.

• Mulching/ brushing of road right-of-way.

• Annual hydrant flushing.

• Annual sanitary sewer flushing.

• Road grading and calcium application.

Prepared by: 

_________________________________ 
Mokles Rahman 

Special Council Meeting Page 136 of 183



THE DISTRICT OF HUDSON’S HOPE 

REPORT TO: Mayor and Council 

SUBJECT: Protective Services Update 

DATE: June 23, 2021 

FROM:  Brad Milton, Director of Protective Services 

please find highlights of activities either done or underway in the Protective Services Departments 
during the last month. 

• From May 18 – June 23, there were 4 calls for service.  2 – First Responder, 1 - Motor Vehicle
Accident, 1 – Alarms Ringing.

• HHFR is doing well with building inspections. There have been 5 building Completed to date.
• District building Evacuation plans and muster points continue to be established.
• Chief Milton Continues to work on District building fire safety Plans.
• HHFR had 1 member attend the Fireworks Supervisors course in Chetwynd.
• HHFR has 1 Fire Works Supervisor assisting Chetwynd Fire Rescue for their Canada Day celebrations,

as they do not current have a certified supervisor.
• HHFR has 5 members booked for the FireSmart BC’s “Local FireSmart Representative course July 14

and 15.
• There have been 4 bylaw complaints and 3 complaint resolutions.

It’s a great day to be a Hudson’s Hope Firefighter. 

Prepared by: 

__________________________ 
Brad Milton, Director of Protective Services 
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THE DISTRICT OF HUDSON’S HOPE 

REPORT TO: Mayor Dave Heiberg and Council  

SUBJECT: Special Projects – Update Report 

DATE: June 2021  

FROM: Chris Cvik 

Some of the initiatives that I have been remotely working on or recently completed: 

• Completed Director of Engineering and Public Works competition.  Ruhul Amin
successful candidate.  Commences work on July 5, 2021.

• ATV Campground – RFP issued with a closing date of July 14, 2021.
• Submitted response to provincial questions on District of Hudson’s Hope Gravel Pit

License of Occupation extension – awaiting decision.

Upcoming 

• Working with Councillors Miller and Markin on banner replacement project.
• Finalize Annual Report and submit to Province.
• Continue to work on Dinosaur Lake ATV Campground Project.

_______________________________ 
Chris Cvik 
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THE DISTRICT OF HUDSON’S HOPE 

REPORT TO: Mayor and Council  

FROM: Kristina Coombs, Recreation and Special Events Coordinator 

DATE:  June 2021 

SUBJECT: Recreation and Special Events Department – MONTHLY UPDATE 

PURPOSE 

To provide Council with an update for the Recreation and Special Events of the Public Works 
Department during the last month. 

INFORMATION - Special Events 

➢ ParticipACTION Community Better Challenge – June 1-30, 2021, A national fitness
competition where residents and local organizations log activity minutes, and the most active
Canadian community is awarded $100,000. The District of Hudson’s Hope has partnered with
Hope for Health to offer the community a month of daily free fitness activities, events, prizes,
and challenges including special events such as the Retro Run and bi-weekly hikes. This
month-long event is sponsored by the Government of Canada’s Participaction Grant ($900).
The Community engagement in this event is unprecedented.  Residents from all walks of life are
excited, participating, engaging in fitness, and having fun making this event extremely
successful and a major contributor to the wellbeing and health of the community. It has brought
together organizations such as: Hudson’s Hope School, RCMP, Visitor info Centre, HH pool, HH
Library, Greta’s class Act Fitness, BC Hydro, Lions Club, Love Hudson’s Hope, HH Museum.

• Hudson’s Hope has been in the top five (5) communities provincially and top fifteen (15)
nationally since the start date of June 1, 2021.  The RSEC has been contacted as
Hudson’s Hope is a contending finalist in the Community Better Challenge by Ken
Zolotar, the ParicipACTION Manager of Stakeholder Relations and Public Affairs.
Attached is information Mr. Zolotar included specifically for municipal leaders.

➢ Fitness in the Park – Weekly classes sponsored by the District of Hudson’s Hope are:
Essentrics, Bolly X, Yoga, Boot Camp, Stroller Fit (in part) and Kids Fit.

➢ 20 Mile Hike – Free guided hike.  Please take note 71% of participants on this hike were
tourists.  Council may want to consider what is being done in Hudson’s Hope regarding the
tourism industry and the evolving outdoor adventure trend.
Attendance- 50 participants.
Contractor Cost – $150

UPCOMING EVENTS 
➢ Participaction Community Better Challenge Continues – June 1-30
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➢ Canada Day – July 1 Includes Lion’s Drive-through BBQ, Canada Day Kid’s Camp, House
Decorating Contest, Where’s Dudley Scavenger Hunt

➢ Kids summer day camps- July 5-30
➢ Summer Hike Series
➢ Fitness in the Park
➢ Pride

PROJECTS
➢ Pool employment sustainability-In progress

GRANTS
➢ Canada Summer Jobs – $14,364
➢ Better Community Challenge – successful - $900

NETWORKING
➢ Coordinating with community clubs, organizations, and volunteers for potential involvement in

Participaction and the DOHH Canada Day celebrations
➢ Coordination with regional Recreation Coordinators and Directors.

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
➢ Safety Sync

ADMINISTRATOR’S COMMENTS:

_____________________________________________
Mokles Rahman, Chief Administrative Officer

__  ___________________________________________
Kristina Coombs, Recreation and Special Events Coordinator
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Most Active Community Finalist Details 

Who are the finalists? 

At the end of the Community Better Challenge ParticipACTION will contact 50 finalists from across Canada and 
ask them to submit a bid to be named Canada’s Most Active Community.   

The 50 finalists will be selected as follows:  
o 5 finalists from ON, BC, AB, QC

o 4 finalists from SK, MB, NB, NS, NL, PE

o 2 finalists from NU, NT, YK

o Total Finalists:  50

What are the timelines? 

Date Activity 

June 1st, 2021 Community Better Challenge Starts 

July 1st, 2021 Community Better Challenge Ends 

July 5th, 2021 50 Finalists selected, announced and informed 

July 12th, 2021 Finalists Submission are due 

July 23rd, 2021 Submission Review Period ends 

July 26 – 29, 2021 Canada’s Most Active Communities are announced 

How will the Finalist be evaluated?  

Finalist will be evaluated based on the following two components: 
1 – Community Score from Minute Tracking period 

• This score factors in minutes tracked as well as the number of unique individuals & organizations that
tracked during the Challenge while also factoring in the community population into the final calculation

2 – Review of Finalist Submission 

• As outlined in the Finalist Submission section below

What is included in the Finalist Submission? 

Finalists will be required to answer the following five questions.  In addition, they will be encouraged to submit 
digital evidence such as photos, stories, promotional efforts, articles and other media, and social media to go 
along with their written responses.   

1) Why do you deserve to be named the most active community in Canada?
2) What have you done to promote and engage with the Community Better Challenge?
3) What are some challenges and/or health inequities your community is facing in regard to physical activity and

how were these considered/addressed?
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4) How could you use any prize money to help alleviate the challenges and/or health inequities outlined in
question #3?

5) Has your community done any of the following things to support increasing local physical activity?

Item Yes No 
Having plans / strategies to promote physical activity 

Declaring National Health and Fitness Day (First Saturday in June) and/or 
Journée nationale du sport et de l'activité physique (May 2nd) in QC 

Ensuring staff that are delivering physical activity initiatives are properly 
qualified (HIGH FIVE® certified, DAFA, NCCP etc.)  

Promoting the True Sport Principles in your community or becoming a True 
Sport community 

Taking steps to incorporate physical literacy principles in your community 

Delivering physical activity in partnership with other organizations or sectors 

In addition, Finalists will be asked to briefly explain the COVID-19 restrictions that were in place within their 

community and how the community was impacted.  This will not be scored but will be taken into consideration as 

part of the submission review. 

What are the prize funding amounts? 

There are thirteen prizes available to be won in the Challenge as detailed in the table below 

Category Prizes Available Category Prize Value 

National Prize 1 $100,000 

Provincial / Territorial Prize 12 (one per province/territory, 
excluding the province or territory 
who wins the National Prize) 

$7,500 or $15,000 (* see 
details below)  

* The value of the “Provincial / Territorial Prize” is dependant on funding commitments from each respective
province or territory.  Based on these commitments, the prize value per province/territory is as follows:

Provincial/Territorial Prize - $15,000:  BC, AB, SK, QC, PE, NS, NL, NB, NT, ON 
Provincial/Territorial Prize - $7,500:  MB, NU, YK  

Funding Guidelines 
What can it be used for? 

Funding needs to support physical activity opportunities in the community for example: 

• Capital builds (playgrounds, trails, renovation, etc.)

• New or existing programs serving inactive or underrepresented groups

• The acquisition of equipment and supplies to enhance physical activity programs within the
community (sport and recreation equipment for a community centre, adaptive equipment for people
with disabilities, etc.)

• Physical activity strategy development and implementation
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When do funds need to be spent? 

Within one year of receiving the funding the municipality will need to confirm plans for spending the money.  
Within two years after receipt of the funding all funding should be spent.   

Are there any reporting requirements? 

Yes, ParticipACTION will provide a brief impact measurement report shorty after the completion of the project.  

We will also require proof of the final project once completed, such as a press release, photos and testimonials. 

Where does the money need to have impact? 

ParticipACTION will provide you with a brief community report.  This report will include information such as your 

community’s boundaries as determined by the Community Better Challenge and the names of community 

organizations that were involved in supporting you.  In some instances, multiple municipalities have been 

grouped together. We encourage funds to be dispersed with these factors in mind.  
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L&M Engineering Limited     Page | 1 

Memorandum 

To: Mokles Rahman, P. Eng. Date: June 25, 2021 
From: L&M Engineering Limited  File: 1012-12 

Regarding:  Water Treatment Facility Project Update 

This memo is prepared to provide an update of project status for the Water Treatment Facility. 

1. Current Status of Work.

The past weeks sawe the performance of the following tasks. 

o Source water monitoring for changes.
o Inspection, cleaning and repairs and rehabilitation of treatment system components

as required due to commissioning issues.
o Addressing of final deficiencies.
o Operations and Maintenance Manual preparations.

The facility is technically near completion as per the initial requirements of the RFP. However 
potential changes to the operational capabilities of the system, concerns over the smell from the 
facility and the actual taste of the water from the new facility exist.  

2. Project Substantial Completion.

Under the conditions of the contract and builders lien act definition the project is likely near 
substantial completion. District may  be contractually obligated to issue substantial completion 
to Industra within the next weeks. Deficiencies will remain, and improvements to the facility have 
been identified as required. Deficiencies will be managed under the standard contractual 
processes.  

The District should consider any improvement or additional work as a supplemental phase to the 
project. Issuance of substantial compelation does not mean the project is fully compelate. A 
specific memo on this matter will be provided for your further information and consideration. 

3. Commissioning Issues.

The facility suffered issues of improper and incorrect operation during initial commissioning.  We 
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suspect due to the following main issues were the cause of most problems 

o Improper installation of media prefilters and chorine injection systems.
o Various component failures
o Improper and incomplete control and electrical works.
o Improper or incomplete disinfection works.

Additionally, unconfirmed changes to the project requirements have been presented by the 
contractor as follows: 

o Purported (unconfirmed) changes to the source water conditions.
o Insufficient distribution pump capacity.

Further information on these issues and their variables as follows: 

4. Potential Changes to the Source water Condition – Iron Content of Water

The Contractor suspects a possible increase in iron content in the source water. 

The purported issue is as yet unproven. The contractor has been directed to investigate the 
purported chemistry changes. This involves analysis of residues within filters and membranes, 
and direct testing of source water for Iron. Results of the analisis are expected within 2-3 weeks, 

The impact of increased Iron in the source water, if left unmitigated, would be an increased cost 
of operation for the plant. The solution would be to enhance the facilities ability to remove the 
iron, or improve the maintenance procedures to reduce cost of operations.  

5. Presented Change to the Source water Condition – Bacteriological Potential.

The contractor has presented the potential that the source water may be have bacteriological 
potential. The contractor purported this condition due to the presence of coliform bacteria within 
some of the water testing results performed during commissioning.  

The owners team considers the potential for the source water to contain bacteria to be extremely 
low. The source water aquifer was investigated during conceptual design and found to not have 
bacteriological potential. Our position is that the bacteria found in initial testing samples were 
introduced during construction and persisted due to an incompleate disinfection process 
performed by the contractor. 

However, now that the issue is raised, there is a diligence to confirm our position so as to ensure 
the treatment methods proposed by the facility are sufficient.  
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Investigations are underway and involve continued monitoring for the presence of bacteria in the 
source water. All tests received for the past 5 weeks show no bacteria. Additionally, 
measurement of temperature within the source water is underway, as temperature fluctuations 
may point to conditions that allow bacteriological growth. Results of temperature monitoring are 
not yet conclusive. 

Should the condition be verified, it would represent a major change. The treatment facility is not 
designed to manage water with bacteriological potential. 

Mitigation would either involve a change of source water with revision back to the river. Or an 
enhancement of the treatment facility to include a disinfection stage that would treat for 
bacteria.  Mitigation options will not be explored or costed until the potential for this risk is 
proven.  

6. Insufficient Distribution Pump Capacity.
During commissioning testing the new facility failed to produce the volume of water per day that 
is required by the RFP.  The contractor presents that this is because the preexisting distribution 
pumps for the town are not capable of meeting the production of the new plant.  

The district can note that the failure of production volume was relatively minor and not in itself 
the main concern. Rather, it is the fact the existing pumps were working too hard to keep up with 
the output from the facility. The concern is the load placed on the existing pumps and the 
potential for the load to cause failure in the future if not addressed. 

Pricing has been received for installation of new pumps, and is under review with the district. 

7. Aesthetic Odor Issues

The issues of odor around the new water treatment plant continue to be a problem for residents 
around the facility. 

We have engaged Clearpoint Engineering and B4 Engineering to confirm the treatment 
methodology to be applied. They currently performing an evaluation of different options and are 
to apply the criteria of effectiveness, const of construction and operational costs to make their 
recommendation.  

Discussions indicate exhaust relocation along with Micro Bubble aeration and two stage 
generated ozone treatment is the prime candidate. Judged at this stage by Clearpoint and B4 to 
be far simpler and less expensive that the option for single stage UV ozone generation proposed 
by the contractor Industra. 
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The contractor needs to be brought into the discussion for coordination with existing treatment 
design. At this point it is our intention to issue them with a Contemplated Change order so as to 
receive pricing on detailed design and construction.  

Monitoring of H2S levels in the air was performed by the contractor Industra.  H2S levels in the 
air around the facility is below the levels of their gas detection equipment.  At the point of 
exhaust, they saw a range of 3- to 8 ppm. Industra reports no concern for public safety. 

For the past month the treatment facility has been operating from the worse (in terms of gas 
content) of the two wells available to it. However, we hope to switch to the better of the wells 
soon. This should reduce the odor in the neighborhood but is not a long-term solution as both 
wells are needed to ensure redundancy in the water supply.  

Scheadual for installation of the mitigation is expected to require two months, with exhaust 
diversion occurring as soon as possible to reduce the issue and ozone treatment installations to 
follow based on lead times for the required equipment. 

8. Aesthetic Water Quality.

The district has requested water quality within the community be independently verified as 
residential complaints have occurred around the taste of the water. Complaints received are 
around chlorine test and unpleasant, stale tastes. 

To perform this task, the owner’s group has retained proposals from subconsultants and testing 
facilities. The final proposal was received today and will be forwarded to district for approval. 

Testing will begin once the contractor has returned the facility treatment parameters to a normal 
condition and caressed the initial issues, as mentioned above, that were encountered in the 
commissioning phase. This is near complete. 

The contractor has also been required to provide documentation showing the facility produces 
water with aesthetic qualities required by the RFP. This is under analysis and verification by the 
owner’s team. 

Owners group testing of the distribution water is expected to take two weeks. The results of that 
testing will indicate or confirm if the reported water quality concerns are tied to deficiencies in 
the new treatment facility or possible related to issue of water distribution that are exasperated 
by the variable of the new treatment system. 

Prepared by, 
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Luke McDonald, AScT, PMP. 
Contract Administrator. 
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May 24, 2021 

District of Hudson's Hope 
Via e-mail: 
 cao@hudsonshope.ca 

Mokles Rahman 
Chief Administrative Officer 

Hello Mr. Rahman, 

RE: Enhancements to emergency health services in your community 

We are pleased to be able to provide an update on how BC Emergency Health Services (BCEHS) is 
enhancing emergency services in rural and remote communities like yours. 

Historically, BCEHS has relied on on-call staffing (often referred to as ‘casual’ in other areas of health 
care) to maintain ambulance service in small communities.  We have been fortunate to have 
dedicated and committed paramedics in many communities, but this staffing model presents 
challenges for reliable coverage, pay and career pathways as well as maintaining staff in these 
communities.  Without a regular, predictable income, paramedics seek to move to larger 
communities to secure full-time work. 

As part of the 2019-2022 Collective Agreement between BCEHS and the Ambulance Paramedics and 
Dispatchers of BC (CUPE Local 873), several initiatives were agreed on to create permanent, salaried 
jobs for paramedics, including a new staffing model called Scheduled On-Call (SOC).  BCEHS and CUPE 
873 - the union representing paramedics - have agreed to these changes and the employees 
themselves ratified the agreement.  With plenty of collaboration, joint committees and planning, we 
are working together to see the successful implementation of this model.  

With the introduction of SOC, we will be creating regular part-time SOC unit chief positions at every 
rural and remote station in BC that does not currently have a regular unit chief.  Many areas will also 
see an expansion of community paramedic services.  Introducing the SOC model, as well as changes 
we are making to convert ‘stand-by’ on-call shifts to regularized positions, where possible, will help 
stabilize staffing and improve emergency coverage in these communities.  These changes are now 
underway on Vancouver Island and on some Gulf Islands.  Other parts of the province are still under 
analysis and more should be known about those resources later this summer.  

Although these changes are exciting and necessary for improvements to happen, we understand 
there may be impacts and transitional periods along the way.  We are talking with our staff and 
providing as much information as we can during this time of change and encouraging those 
interested in regular work to apply for the many permanent positions being created.  Overall, the SOC 
model is creating 220 regular positions across the province.  In addition, BCEHS has also invested and 
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implemented changes to other staffing and scheduling models to improve patient care.  These 
initiatives are adding 270 new regular, full-time positions across the province.  

The intent of all these changes is to increase the number of regular positions in smaller communities, 
provide stable employment for paramedics and opportunities to further their careers in these 
communities.  For residents in these communities, SOC aims to provide more consistent emergency 
health coverage along with new opportunities for paramedic support to local health services. 

This kind of transformation is the largest ever undertaken by our organization and one that we expect 
will better integrate with community health services and enhance our services to patients in a variety 
of ways. 

If you would like more information, we would be happy to meet with you virtually.  Alternatively, you 
can email MyCommunity@bcehs.ca for more information.  

Sincerely, 

Signed by 

Darlene MacKinnon 
Chief Operating Officer 
BC Emergency Health Services 
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June 14, 2021 

Ref: 266796 

Mokles Rahman 
Chief Administrative Officer 
District of Hudson's Hope 
Box 330 
Hudson's Hope, BC  V0C 1V0 

Dear Mokles Rahman: 

 Re: Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program (ICIP) – COVID-19 Resilience 
Infrastructure Stream   
Project # IV0205 - Hudson’s Hope Arena, Access (COVID-19), Safety and Energy 
Improvements 

Thank you for your application for funding under the ICIP – COVID-19 Resilience Infrastructure 
Stream (ICIP-CVRIS).  

We would like to advise that, after careful consideration, the above-noted project was not 
selected for funding under the ICIP–CVRIS.  

The program received significantly more applications than could be funded. This decision does 
not reflect on the importance of this project for your community, but rather the degree by 
which the program has been oversubscribed. All applications were equitably reviewed and 
given consideration for funding. If you have any questions, please contact Justin Langton, ICIP-
CVRIS Lead, by email at: Justin.Langton@gov.bc.ca.  

Additional program information can be found at the Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program 
website: www.gov.bc.ca/Investing-in-Canada-Infrastructure-Program. Should future funding 
become available, staff are pleased to provide advice on preparing an application. 

…2 
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Thank you for your interest in the ICIP-CVRIS. We wish you every success with your community 
project.   

Best regards, 

Brian Bedford 
Executive Director, Local Government Infrastructure and Finance
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Document Number: 2068281  

June 23, 2021 File: 11-5460-06-0001/2021 

Jamee Justason 
Information and Resolutions Coordinator 
Union of British Columbia Municipalities 

By email: jjustason@ubcm.ca  

Dear Ms. Justason: 

Re: REVISED UBCM Resolution on Safe Passing Distance for All Road Users 

This is to advise that the City of North Vancouver Council, at its Regular meeting of 
Monday, June 21, 2021, unanimously endorsed the following revised resolution: 

“WHEREAS the Province of British Columbia encourages cycling and walking for 
transportation, yet relatively few roads in BC have bike lanes or shoulders, and many 
do not have sidewalks, directing cyclists and pedestrians to share roads with high-
speed motor vehicle traffic, which can result in close passes, poses potentially fatal 
crash risks, and discourages active transportation; 

WHEREAS over 40 jurisdictions across North America, including the provinces of 
Ontario, Quebec, Nova Scotia, New Brunswick, and Newfoundland and Labrador, 
have all enacted “safe passing distance” legislation designed to protect vulnerable 
road users by requiring motor vehicle operators to maintain a minimum distance 
when passing vulnerable road users, thus creating a better understanding of and 
expectation for road safety; 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT the UBCM request the Province of British 
Columbia to amend the Motor Vehicle Act to better support safe active transportation 
by requiring drivers to provide 1 metre of space at speeds 50 km/h or less, and 1.5 
metres of space at speeds in excess of 50 km/h, when passing people cycling or 
walking.” 

Please find enclosed a certified copy of the Council resolution for your reference. We would 
ask that the resolution be included in the Resolutions Book for consideration at the UBCM 
convention. 

If you require any further information, please feel free to contact me at kgraham@cnv.org or 
604-990-4234.

Yours truly,

Karla Graham, MMC 
Corporate Officer 

Encl. 

cc UBCM Member municipalities 
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MAY 25, 2021

1

A Minimum Passing Distance Law for B.C. 

Why Minimum Passing Distance is Important
Minimum passing distance is a road safety law prohibiting ‘close passing’, which occurs when a motor
vehicle overtakes a person on a bicycle without providing 1 metre of space.

Evidence from research conducted in the UK shows that new cyclists
tend to cycle slower, and that the slower people cycle, the more likely
they are to be close passed. Cyclists surveyed also felt that, based on
the behaviour of other road users, most close passing incidents were
preventable.

As such, close passing is a problem on a few important fronts:

 Gender equity—close passes affect more women than men.
 Active transportation policy—new cyclists are close passed

more than experienced cyclists.
 Social justice—cyclists say they feel powerless to do much to

prevent close passing, which is largely due to driver behaviour.

What Can Be Done About Close Passing
Protected infrastructure can reduce the discomfort, discouragement, and fear experienced by those who
cycle and walk for transportation in close proximity to motor vehicle traffic.

Research by Westminster
University found that:

● Cycling 12 kph or less on
average results in three
times more near misses
per km, compared to
cycling 20 kph or faster.

● Women, who on average
cycle more slowly, have
higher near miss rates
than men.

SOURCE: Near Miss Project
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However, sufficient infrastructure cannot be built fast enough to mitigate the actual risks and impacts of
close passing. By defining and quantifying the minimum distance required to safely pass vulnerable road
users via the Motor Vehicle Act (MVA), a Minimum Passing Distance law could meaningfully reduce
current crash and injury rates in communities across B.C.

 Minimum Passing Distance laws provide an objective standard for safe passing
 Many North American jurisdictions have enacted Minimum Passing Distance laws, and

promoted the new legislation to establish public information, education, and enforcement
programs supporting broader road safety goals and objectives.

Because close passing in B.C. currently counteracts policies and strategies designed to support
environmentally sustainable transportation modes like cycling and walking, it is important for the
provincial government to move quickly to address this issue via legislation.

Active Transportation in B.C.

Cycling & Walking Growth
The repurposing of road space to facilitate walking and cycling in many communities across British
Columbia during COVID-19 is an extension of active transportation policies and strategies that have
influenced transportation-oriented development in larger urban centres since the 1980s.

Evidence suggests that these policies and strategies have largely worked1: 

● Almost one-quarter of British Columbians reported commuting by foot, bike or public

transit; 93% said they expected to spend more time walking or cycling in the future.
● 2.5% of British Columbians commute by bike; top cycle commuting cities in B.C. include

Revelstoke (14%), Victoria (11%), Whistler (10%), Vancouver (6%), and Kelowna (4%).
● British Columbians spend about one-sixth of their travel time walking or cycling to typical

destinations
● One-third of B.C. households have at least one school-aged child walking or cycling to school.

Crashes & Injuries
Recent ICBC data suggests that police under-reporting of crashes over the past 10 years, particularly
those involving bicycles, shows that crashes involving motor vehicles are causing more injuries and that
cyclists are increasingly and disproportionately at risk,: 

 On average, police attend less than one-quarter of the 2,000 crashes involving a cyclist
each year, yet three-quarters of these crashes result in injury or death.

 The injury rate from ICBC-reported crashes has increased, from 29% in 2010 to 31% in 2020.

Evidence suggests that many of the factors contributing to crashes involving cyclists could be mitigated
through education and enforcement; 85% of all contributing factors assigned to drivers are the result of
driving behaviour, such as distraction, failure to yield, and improper passing and turning.2

1
B.C. Ministry of Transportation & Infrastructure 2019 Active Transportation Population Survey Report; Statistics Canada, 2016 Census.

2 ICBC data.
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Advocating for Safe Passing
Advocacy organizations, including the British Columbia Cycling Coalition (BCCC), the Cross Canada
Cycle Tour Society, Cycling BC, and GoByBike BC Society, are asking the Government of BC to amend
the MVA to include a minimum passing distance.

This recommendation also reflects the work of the Road Safety Law Reform Group of BC, a coalition of
member organizations including the BCCC, Capital Bike, HUB Cycling, Mobi Bike Share, Health Officers
Council of BC, Fraser Health, Interior Health, Vancouver Coastal Health, BC Injury Research and
Prevention Unit, City of New Westminster, City of Victoria, City of Vancouver Active Transportation Policy
Council, Modo the Car Co-op, Hastings Crossing Business Improvement Association, and the Trial
Lawyers Association of B.C.

In 2016, the Road Safety Law Reform Group of British Columbia issued a position paper entitled
Modernizing the BC Motor Vehicle Act, which included the following recommendation:

“[That] the MVA be amended to specify that a motor vehicle must leave at least 1 m 

between all parts of the vehicle (and any projecting objects) when passing a cyclist or 

other vulnerable road user at speeds of 50 km/h or less and at least 1.5 m at speeds in 

excess of 50 km/h. 

Section 157 of the MVA states that an overtaking vehicle “must cause the vehicle to pass to the left of the 

other vehicle at a safe distance.” Bicycles, however, are not “vehicles” by definition under the Act, hence 

there is some confusion as to whether the language of the MVA even applies to passing cyclists.

At best, it can be argued that because a cyclist has the same rights as the operator of a vehicle (Sec.
183.1), a cyclist has the right to be passed “at a safe distance.” In any event, even where courts have
accepted that motorists have an obligation to pass cyclists safely, what constitutes as a safe passing
distance remains unclear.3 

The proposed amendment would provide clarification that a motorist has a duty to leave a safe passing
distance when passing a cyclist as well as definitive guidance on the minimum such distance. This avoids
subjective assessments by motorist as to what constitutes a safe distance, and provide an objective
standard for enforcement.

Minimum Passing Distances in North America
Establishing safe passing legislation would help B.C. catch up to other jurisdictions with progressive road
safety laws. Currently, 39 provinces and states have legislated minimum passing distances, as do a
number of Canadian cities.

Many of these jurisdictions have instituted minimum distances for passing depending on facility type
and/or posted speed limits:

● 3 ft / 1m for most roads.
● 5-6 ft / 1.5 m on roads with motor vehicle traffic travelling at speeds of 30 mph / 50 kph or more.

3
See Dupre v. Patterson, 2013 BCSC 1561. The Court did not consider the argument that a vehicle does not include a bicycle.
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New Brunswick
Motor Vehicle Act—Section 149 Part 3 (c), which was passed into legislation in 2017 as Bill 48, “An Act
Respecting Ellen’s Law”:

“...the driver of a vehicle overtaking and passing a bicycle proceeding in the same 

direction...shall pass to the left at a distance of at least one metre from the bicycle…”

Newfoundland and Labrador
Highway Traffic Act—Subsection 96(1) c.1, which was passed into legislation in 2018:

“...shall, where the vehicle which is being overtaken is a bicycle, pass the bicycle at a 

distance of at least (i) one metre from the bicycle where the speed limit is 60 kilometres 

an hour or less, or (ii)  one and a half metres from the bicycle where the speed limit is 

greater than 60 kilometres an hour…”

Nova Scotia
Motor Vehicle Act—Chapter 293, Section 171B(1), which was passed into legislation in 2010 as Bill 93:

“A driver of a vehicle shall not pass a bicycle travelling in the same direction as the 

vehicle that is being ridden to the far right of the driver of the vehicle on the roadway, on 

the shoulder or in an adjacent bicycle lane unless...the driver leaves at least one metre 

open space between the vehicle and the cyclist. 

Notwithstanding subsection 115(2), a driver of a motor vehicle may cross a line to pass a 

bicycle in accordance with subsection (1) if the driver can do so safely as required by 

Section 100.”

Ontario
Highway Traffic Act—Part X, Section 148 (6.1), which was passed into legislation in 2015 as Bill 31,
“Making Ontario's Roads Safer Act”.

“Every person in charge of a motor vehicle on a highway who is overtaking a person 

travelling on a bicycle shall, as nearly as may be practicable, leave a distance of not less 

than one metre between the bicycle and the motor vehicle and shall maintain that 

distance until safely past the bicycle. 

(6.2) The one metre distance required by subsection (6.1) refers to the distance between 

the extreme right side of the motor vehicle and the extreme left side of the bicycle, 

including all projections and attachments.”

Quebec
Highway Safety Code—Chapter 91, Section 341 (6.1), which was passed into legislation in 2018 as Bill
165, “An Act to amend the Highway Safety Code and other provisions”.
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“The driver of a road vehicle may not pass a cyclist within the same traffic lane unless it 

can be done safely, after reducing the vehicle’s speed and ensuring that a reasonable 

distance can be kept between the vehicle and the cyclist during the manoeuvre. 

In no case may the driver of a road vehicle perform this manoeuvre if the part of the 

roadway on which the driver must encroach is not clear of traffic for a sufficient distance, 

in particular if another vehicle is oncoming or is coming up alongside the vehicle. In such 

a case, the driver must remain in the lane and reduce the vehicle’s speed, in particular by 

staying behind the cyclist. ... 

A reasonable distance is 1.5 m on a road where the maximum authorized speed limit is 

more than 50 km/h or 1 m on a road where the maximum authorized speed limit is 50 

km/h or less. 

This section applies to the driver of a road vehicle when meeting or passing a pedestrian, 

with the necessary modifications. It also applies to such a driver if the cyclist or 

pedestrian is travelling on the shoulder or on a cycle lane that is not separated from the 

roadway by a median strip or any other raised physical device.”

Minimum Passing Distance Laws in the U.S.
According to the National Conference of State Legislators, as of February 2021, 33 states (and the
District of Columbia) have enacted minimum passing distance laws that require motor vehicle operators to
leave at least 3 feet when passing a bicycle operator:

A Safe Passing Law for B.C.
With strong evidence that close passing contribute to crash risks and injury rates, is a gender equity and
social justice issue that works against contemporary transportation policies, and that similar laws have
been successfully passed into law and adopted in jurisdictions across North America, it’s appears to be
time for B.C. to enact minimum passing distance legislation.
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With the province’s Active Transportation Strategy calling for walking and cycling rates to double by 2030, 

and RoadSafetyBC aiming for ‘Vision Zero’, something must be done. Across North America and in
Canada new laws have been successfully passed and adopted.

The time for a Minimum Passing Distance to protect vulnerable road users in B.C. is now. 

For more information:

Colin Stein
Executive Director
colin.stein@bccycling.ca

Motor Vehicle Act & Regulatory Reform Subcommittee
admin@bccycling.ca

About The BC Cycling Coalition
The BC Cycling Coalition (BCCC) is a non-profit, member-driven society focused on active transportation
and mobility in British Columbia. The BCCC works on transportation policy, engages with government,
and delivers provincial cycling programs like Bike Sense and Kids on Wheels, in order to help make
active transportation safe, practical and enjoyable for all British Columbians. www.bccc.bc.ca
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June 14, 2021 File: 01-0400-60/21 

Honourable Marc Dalton 
Member of Parliament 
Sent via email: marc.dalton@parl.gc.ca 

Honourable Lisa Beare 
Member of the Legislative Assembly 
Sent via email:  lisa.beare.MLA@leg.bc.ca 

Dear MP Dalton and MLA Beare: 

Re: Truth and Reconciliation Commission’s Call to Action 75 

We write this letter regarding the recent announcement from the Tk’emlúps te 
Secwépemc First Nation and the results of a survey at the former Residential school in 
Kamloops B.C., which uncovered the remains of 215 Indigenous children.  These 
findings confirm and support the stories and histories as told by many residential school 
survivors. 

The findings in Kamloops support the suggestion that there will likely be further tragic 
discoveries at other residential schools. 

We share in the grief of all First Nation people as we collectively honour and mourn the 
loss of these 215 children.   

. . . /2 
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- 2 -

We believe it is imperative that immediate action be taken to address Action 75 of the 
Commission’s Calls to Action, which states: 

75. We call upon the federal government to work with provincial, territorial, and
municipal governments, churches, Aboriginal communities, former residential
school students, and current landowners to develop and implement strategies
and procedures for the ongoing identification, documentation, maintenance,
commemoration, and protection of residential school cemeteries or other sites at
which residential school children were buried.  This is to include the provision of
appropriate memorial ceremonies and commemorative markers to honour the
deceased children.

In order for reconciliation to take place, the truth must be recognized and 
acknowledged.  We feel that by identifying, honouring, and remembering these 
Indigenous children, it is an important step towards healing. 

Along with our collective outrage, we fully support and call for further action to find, 
and hold accountable, those who were involved in this unspeakable tragedy. 

Yours Truly, 

Mayor Bill Dingwall 
BGS, LL.B., CPHR 

cc: Pitt Meadows City Council 
UBCM 
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I am writing today as a concerned citizen. In early June, I received a message from

Lindsay Routledge, community outreach for BC Hydro (Site C), about the possibility of

finding somewhere to store a short-term stockpile of firewood logs and wood chips/mulch

for public access. Lindsay explained that these materials are coming directly from the

construction of the Berm around Hudson's Hope, and that BC Hydro would like to make

these materials available to the community, but she had contacted the Hudson's Hope

District Staff and was told that "there was nowhere suitable to store them".  Lyndsay also

explained that they were already searching for a suitable place in Fort ST. John for these

materials because they were as of yet unable to find a home for them in Hudson's Hope.

 As a long-time resident of this municipality, it concerns me that the district did not push

harder to keep the precious natural resources from our forests that are being destroyed by

Site C, within our community. As a gardener, I know that wood chips are highly valued by

homeowners and gardeners alike, yet are outside of the price range of most residents -

especially those with fixed incomes. Having a free, publicly accessible mulch pile for the

community would be a fantastic benefit to our residents! In addition, the firewood would

also be a boon to the district for use in municipal campsites, as well as for residents

because there is a high rate of wood stoves and backyard fire pits in our community. 

I would ask you to please consider stockpiling these materials for public access within our

community. Surely the Councillors and district staff are able to problem-solve the issue of

a "suitable place" to store these materials? The district gravel pit comes to mind, or

perhaps a solution could be worked out with the PRRD for public access at the Transfer

Station. It would be a great shame if our precious trees from our portion of the river

valley were sent elsewhere, to benefit another community that is not as greatly affected as

ours.

Thank you for your consideration,

Sincerely,

Caitlin Vince   

June 22nd, 2021

Mayor and Council, 
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